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Hon John Day MLA 
Minister for Planning 
11th Floor, Dumas House 
2 Havelock Street 
WEST PERTH WA 6005 

Dear Minister,

In accordance with Section 63 of the Financial Management Act 2006, we hereby submit for your information and presentation to Parliament the Annual Report of the 
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority for the reporting period 1 July 2013 to 30 June 2014.

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006. 

Yours sincerely,         

Richard Muirhead   Jeff Dowling      Kieran Kinsella

Chairperson    Deputy Chairperson     Chief Executive Officer

stAtement of compliAnce
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About the metRopolitAn 
Redevelopment AuthoRity
The Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority (MRA) was established 
pursuant to the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority Act 2011 (the Act) 
and began operations in January 2012 as an amalgamation of four existing 
redevelopment authorities across metropolitan Perth. 

With a combination of regulatory planning and land development powers, the MRA takes 
projects from vision setting, through master planning, to development, sales, project 
marketing, place management and activation. The MRA creates successful communities where 
people want to live, work and visit. 

Pursuant to section 7 of the Act, the functions of the MRA are:
(a) to plan, undertake, promote and coordinate the development of land in redevelopment 

areas in the metropolitan region; and
(b) for that purpose: 

i.  to prepare and keep under review strategic and policy documents in relation to the  
 development of land in redevelopment areas; 

ii.  under Part 5 [of the Act] to prepare and keep under review a redevelopment scheme for  
 each redevelopment area; and

iii. under Part 6 [of the Act], to control development in each redevelopment area. 

With five redevelopment areas in its portfolio, the MRA has the capacity to transform urban 
spaces and meet the challenges of Perth’s future growth by creating strong communities while 
also encouraging sustainability and innovation in urban development. The MRA’s unique 
combination of planning and development powers and place management expertise allows for 
the delivery of successful communities with new residential and commercial opportunities, 
public open space and supporting infrastructure for the benefit of visitors, workers and 
residents alike.

With a strong, clear vision, innovative design and planning – and in partnership with 
government, communities and industry – the MRA promotes economic wellbeing, urban 
efficiency, and social inclusion, connects people and communities, and protects and restores 
the environment wherever possible. Working together, the MRA and its partners revitalise 
communities and build a distinctive sense of place that is transforming the city and redefining 
key areas of metropolitan Perth for future generations.

PurPose
To deliver 

redevelopment  
projects of strategic 

significance in 
metropolitan Perth

Vision
Dynamic, authentic 

and sustainable 
places

Values
Listen
Lead

Communicate
Innovate
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chAiRpeRson’s  
Review

Perth’s population growth and remarkable 
transformation has continued at a steady pace over 
the past 12 months with a number of development 
projects working together to change the face 
of Perth, including those by the Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority (MRA). 

Now in its third year of operation, the MRA continues 
to deliver on its commitment and vision to create 
dynamic, authentic and sustainable places across 
metropolitan Perth for generations to come.

The MRA’s ability to achieve its vision is 
underpinned by a full schedule of works, a 
committed team and by holding the unique position 
of having the combined key powers of planning, 
development and place management all within a 
single agency. 

The agility of this redevelopment model places the 
MRA in a position to deliver high-quality built form, 
a streamlined and best practice approach to statutory 
planning, and dynamic and activated public spaces. 
The MRA has the capacity to deliver complex 
projects where other approaches have failed.

This vision and determination to deliver and succeed 
was affirmed at the end of the financial year with 
the completion of the MRA’s inaugural strategic 
plan. The MRA Strategic Plan 2014-2018 provides the 
foundations for the MRA’s ambitious work schedule 
to transform urban spaces and meet the challenges 
of the city’s future growth by creating strong 
communities, while also encouraging sustainability 
and innovation in urban development.

The development and release of Elizabeth Quay, 
Perth City Link and Riverside in particular forged 
ahead this year, providing a significant volume 
of residential, commercial, retail and hotel 
accommodation over the next 10 to 15 years  
and encouraging strong investment from the  
private sector. They are opening our city up to 
welcome more people into it – to work, live, stay  
and enjoy, and creating great places for people to 
meet and gather.

I acknowledge our partners in government and 
private industry, as well as our dedicated CEO, staff 
and consultants who delivered major achievements 
this year across our five Redevelopment Areas.

I also acknowledge my colleagues on the Board 
and the Land Redevelopment Committees for their 
commitment to not only ensuring MRA projects lead 
the way, but doing so with strong governance. 

I would like to thank Mr Linton Reynolds and Dr 
Lynley Hewett for their service to the Armadale 
Land Redevelopment Committee and the Subiaco 
Land Redevelopment Committee respectively. As 
long-serving contributors, their participation and 
expertise will be missed. 

With combined expertise and strong leadership, I am 
sure the challenges of the next 12 months will be met 
with vigour and the future of redevelopment in Perth 
will be a legacy for generations to come.

Richard Muirhead
Chairperson

Firstly, I would like to acknowledge and pay respect to the Noongar community as the traditional and original owners and 
continuing custodians of the land on which all of the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority’s work takes place. 
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chief executive officeR RepoRt 
Year in Review

I respectfully acknowledge the past and present traditional owners, the Noongar Wadjuk people, of the land on which all of MRA 
projects are conducted. It is a privilege to be working on Wadjuk Boodjar (Wadjuk Country) and the MRA is committed to fostering 
a long-term relationship with the Noongar people as we redevelop land across metropolitan Perth. 

Born from Government investment of almost $3.7billion 
with an investment attraction of more than $12.9billion, 
the MRA’s five Redevelopment Areas are all unique and 
diverse in their offerings and in the progress they have 
made in the past year. 

Within the Central Perth Redevelopment Area, Perth 
City Link is visibly removing the barrier between the 
city centre and Northbridge. A walk down Roe Street 
gives a clear indication of how this project is opening 
up new corridors and is set to bring significant amenity 
and activity to the heart of the Perth CBD. Elizabeth 
Quay is fast becoming a reality for the people of Perth 
as the public realm is  due to open in spring of 2015. 
Riverside continues to transform the eastern gateway to 
the city with new residential and commercial offerings. 
The Perth Cultural Centre continues to solidify its 
position as a premiere events destination for people of 
all ages, demonstrated by the number of successful and 
dynamic events hosted by the MRA in the space. 

The Midland Redevelopment Area, home to the 
iconic Midland Railway Workshops, is undergoing a 
renaissance with a burgeoning medical district coming 
to fruition as well as a thriving arts community coming 
together to make this area desirable to live and work in. 

The Armadale Redevelopment Area, which will offer 
a wide range of housing, lifestyle and employment 
choices for the southeast metropolitan region, 
continues to develop with a dynamic industrial hub at 
the centre of its growth.    

The Scarborough Redevelopment Area, in its first full 
year within the MRA portfolio, is destined to become 
one the nation’s premiere beachfronts. Ongoing 
consultation with community and government  
partners will ensure this idyllic coastal area will reach  
its full potential. 

The Subiaco Redevelopment Area, acknowledged 
as one of Australia’s best urban renewal projects, 
continues to deliver exciting residential, retail and 
commercial developments.

The MRA, as the delivery arm of the State’s planning 
portfolio, is building strategic infrastructure that is 
creating jobs and will underpin Western Australia’s 
long-term economic development, especially important 
during this year of economic transition. 

A total of 306 development applications were lodged 
with the MRA this past fiscal year, with a total value of 
$316.83million. 

As a maturing organisation moving into its third 
year, the MRA has celebrated several organisational 
milestones this year. The MRA launched its 
first Reconciliation Action Plan in August 2013. 
Reconciliation Australia formally endorsed the 
Plan in 2013-14 and the first round of MRA staff 
Cultural Awareness Training was facilitated by Kooya 
Consulting.

The MRA Strategic Plan 2014-2018, launched at the 
end of the 2013-14 financial year, affirms our vision, 
introduces our new Place Making Business Model and 
highlights the benefits of the redevelopment model in 
delivering complex projects. 

Relocating its Perth headquarters into the historic 
General Post Office building this year also marked a 
major milestone for the organisation. The new location 
places the MRA between two of its key city projects – 
Perth City Link and Elizabeth Quay. It also places the 
agency in closer proximity to its government partners. 

I would like to thank the MRA Board for the strategic 
direction that has led the agency over the past 12 
months. I would also like to thank our dedicated  
team of consultants and staff for their hard work  
over the past year. 

With a strong, clear vision, innovative design and 
planning – and in partnership with our government, 
community and private partners – we are looking 
forward to the organisation growing alongside Perth in 
the years to come. The MRA will continue to revitalise 
communities and build a distinctive sense of place, 
making metropolitan Perth an enviable destination to 
live, work and play for generations to come.  

Kieran Kinsella    
Chief Executive Officer
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SaleS
Sales included: 
•	 Hitachi Construction Machinery (Australia) purchased a 10hectare site in Forrestdale 

Business Park in Armadale for its new $100million headquarters in August 2013.
•	 The first land at Elizabeth Quay was acquired by Chevron (TAPL) Pty Ltd for $64million in 

November 2013.
•	 Lots 9 and 10 at Elizabeth Quay will be developed by Far East Consortium into a Ritz Carlton 

hotel and residential apartment tower. The construction value of the development will be 
approximately $350million, with a final sale price currently being negotiated. 

PeoPle and PlaceS
The MRA is delivering the places that people want live, work and play in. During the 
reporting year:
•	 A total of 306 development applications were lodged with the MRA, with a total value of 

$316.83million.
•	 The Interim Scarborough Redevelopment Scheme was approved in June 2014. The Interim 

Scheme formally transferred planning and development control of the project area from 
the City of Stirling to the MRA. 

•	 The Perth Cultural Centre hosted over 1200 events with more than 415,000 people in 
attendance. An estimated 1.4million people came into the space throughout the year. 

•	 The public space at Perth City Link was announced as Yagan Square, named after the 
prominent Noongar leader, in June 2014.

2013-2014  
highlights
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$64
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WoRkS
There was significant investment in capital works over 
the 12-month period in the MRA’s Project Areas: 

•	 The rail project, undertaken by the Perth City Link Rail Alliance, 
was completed in December 2013, six months ahead of schedule. 

•	 Within Perth City Link, the Wellington Street Bus Station was 
demolished in March 2014 following appointment of the City 
Busport Alliance to build the new $249million underground bus 
station, due for completion in 2016.

•	 Construction on the inlet walls forming the shape of the 2.7hectare 
inlet within the Elizabeth Quay project commenced in September 
2013. At the end of the reporting period, 50% of the wall had been 
completed, measuring over 508metres in total length.  

•	 A revitalisation package worth $20million commenced at Barrack 
Street Jetty in late 2013. 

•	 The newly upgraded Railway Square, near the Midland Workshops 
peace memorial, in Midland was completed in April 2014. 

•	 The Ranford Road expansion entered the final stage of completion 
to link the two Forrestdale Industrial Parks in Armadale.

•	 The major water and power infrastructure upgrades at Elizabeth 
Quay for the CBD were completed in late 2013.

•	 The MRA worked with the City of Perth and private landowners to 
complete Chinatown’s first stage of improvements. 

•	 Significant roadworks for Riverside were completed in July 
2013, including realignment of the Hay Street and Causeway 
interchange, conversion of Hale Street to two-way and opening of 
the new Braithwaite Street. 
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2013-2014 highlights  
(continued)
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plAce mAking model
Heading into its third year, the way the MRA does 
business has evolved. 

The MRA’s new Place Making Model depicts the 
business processes the MRA uses to create places and 
deliver on its Redevelopment Area Objectives. As a 
developer, planning authority and place manager, 
the MRA operates within a unique space and this 
model visually depicts how these functions work 
together throughout a project’s life cycle. Adopted 
in March 2014, the Place Making Model captures the 
dynamic and diverse nature of the MRA’s projects. 

A graphic representation of the MRA’s Place Making 
Model is included on page 9.

the mRA’s stRAtegic plAn 2014-2018 
In May 2014 the MRA Board endorsed the MRA’s first 
Strategic Plan. The MRA’s Strategic Plan 2014-2018 
highlights what the MRA is, what it does and where it 
is headed over the next four years. 

As the roadmap of how the MRA will deliver 
successful redevelopment projects, the Strategic 
Plan outlines the Corporate and Redevelopment Area 
Objectives, as well as the Strategic Initiatives that 
will drive the achievements of the Objectives over 
the next four years and enhance the MRA’s capacity 
to deliver effectively on these Objectives. A full copy 
of the Strategic Plan is available at mra.wa.gov.au.

the mRA model And stRAtegic diRection

8
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the mRA plAce mAking model
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the mRA model And stRAtegic diRection (continued)

1. investigAtion

9



O
ve

rv
ie

w

the mRA in Action

By putting people first, the MRA 
creates the places where they  
want to be. 
The past year has been a busy and successful 
time for many of the MRA public spaces, with 
the Midland Open Day, Illuminites, Urban Beach, 
the Fringe World Festival, Celebrate WA and the 
Dinosaur Exhibition as a few examples of how  
the MRA delivers and facilitates exciting and 
engaging events that meet its Redevelopment  
Area Objectives. 

Close to 9,000 people visited the Midland 
Railway Workshops for its Open Day in August 
2013. Rich stories of work life and the trains 
manufactured there were heard as former 
employees, their families and interested 
onlookers explored the site, taking in live 
music and visiting food stalls and activity 
centres. A public auction was held for surplus 
items from the site, giving the public a chance 
to own a piece of history while also giving 
the MRA the opportunity to communicate its 
vision for the site.

The third Illuminites Christmas Festival 
and Night Markets were held in the 
Perth Cultural Centre in December 
2013. The MRA worked collaboratively 
with the William Street Collective to 
provide stalls selling unique and hand-
made wares that showcased Perth’s 
creative industries. An estimated 10,000 
people listened to bands, played in the 
snowdome, danced with animated 
penguins on the big screen and watched 
projections on the Art Gallery. This 
annual event epitomises the Perth 
Cultural Centre’s sense of place and how 
it has evolved into a popular, safe and 
inclusive venue.

10 000
visited the   

illuminites  chRistmAs 
fesitvAl And night 

mARkets in 
december 2013

p e o p l e
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The MRA partnered with the WA Museum to 
provide an augmented reality installation on the 
Perth Cultural Centre big screen to coordinate with 
the WA Museum Dinosaur Discovery Exhibition 
from May to July 2014. The innovation allowed 
passers-by to interact with dinosaurs on the big 
screen. As the 2013/14 financial year came to a 
close the MRA was involved in one of its most 
popular installations, WinterLand Ice Skating in 
the City. The MRA continues as it started – with a 
courageous attitude, it is delivering the spaces that 
get people talking. 

The Perth Cultural Centre was also a central venue 
for the Celebrate WA Festivities in June 2014. 
The precinct provided the connectivity point 
for activities spread throughout the City and 
Northbridge to mark WA Day. Highlights included a 
cook-off for the WA Signature Dish and the State of 
the Art music festival on five stages in the Museum 
Gardens, the Urban Orchard, the Wetlands, 
Amphitheatre and the State Theatre Courtyard.

The Urban Beach, stationed throughout 
December 2013 and January 2014, was a low-
cost experiment that caught the imagination 
of the people of Perth. The installation 
demonstrated that the MRA achieved social 
inclusion as people of all ages enjoyed the 
sand, toys and chairs at the temporary beach 
in the Perth Cultural Centre Amphitheatre.

The Perth Cultural Centre was the home of 
the Fringe World Festival for a third year in a 
row. The wildly popular Festival added to the 
economic wellbeing of surrounding business 
in the City and Northbridge with an estimated 
financial windfall of $47million for business 
during the four-week event.

The mra continues  
as it started -   

with a courageous  
attitude, it is delivering  

the spaces that get 
people talking. 

$47
financial windfall  
fOr business during  
the fRinge woRld 

festivAl .

m i l l i o n

the mRA in Action 
(continued)
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Underpinning the MRA’s vision are its key objectives for each Redevelopment  
Area. As per regulation 14 of the MRA Regulations 2011, the objectives of each 
Redevelopment Area are as follows: 
•	 To build a sense of place by supporting high quality urban design, heritage protection, public art and cultural 

activities that respond to Perth’s environment, climate and lifestyle.
•	 To promote economic wellbeing by supporting, where appropriate, development that facilitates investment 

and provides opportunity for local businesses and emerging industries to satisfy market demand.
•	 To promote urban efficiency through infrastructure and buildings, the mix of land use and facilitating a 

critical mass of population and employment.
•	 To enhance connectivity and reduce the need to travel by supporting development aimed at well designed 

places that support walking, cycling and public transit.
•	 To promote social inclusion by encouraging, where appropriate, a diverse range of housing and by supporting 

community infrastructure and activities and opportunities for visitors and residents to socialise.
•	 To enhance environmental integrity by encouraging ecologically sustainable design, resource efficiency, 

recycling, renewable energy and protection of the local ecology.

mRA Redevelopment  
AReA obJectives
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mRA   
Redevelopment 
AReAs
The mRa is driving regeneration 
across five Redevelopment areas – 
armadale, central Perth, midland, 
Scarborough and Subiaco. 
In accordance with the Act, each Redevelopment Area has 
a Land Redevelopment Committee to enable community 
and local government involvement in the development and 
delivery of MRA’s projects. 

The Redevelopment Schemes under which the MRA  
operates are:

aRmadale
armadale Redevelopment Scheme
Wungong Urban Water Redevelopment Scheme 

centRal PeRth
central Perth Redevelopment Scheme

midland
midland Redevelopment Scheme

SUBiaco
Subiaco Redevelopment Scheme

ScaRBoRoUgh
Scarborough interim Scheme
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Agency peRfoRmAnce 
Redevelopment AReAs
Within the MRA’s five Redevelopment Areas there are 13 redevelopment projects, 
which are providing new commercial, hotel, residential and retail accommodation 
and public spaces across more than 3,300hectares of land. In 2013-14, the MRA’s 
projects represented more than $3.7billion worth of Government investment, with 
a potential investment attraction of more than $12.9billion.
The following illustrations highlight the MRA’s Redevelopment Areas and their respective project areas.  
Further information is available on the MRA’s website: www.mra.wa.gov.au.
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central perth redevelopment area

The Central Perth Redevelopment Area spans 245hectares and includes a range of innovative projects that together are 
changing the face of Perth. The Elizabeth Quay and Riverside projects are providing new opportunities to engage with the 
Swan River and the Perth City Link project is reconnecting the city and enabling it to grow. The Perth Cultural Centre project 
is transforming Northbridge with new events, activities and cultural attractions. 

The Central Perth Redevelopment Area includes 
the Elizabeth Quay, Perth City Link, Riverside, 
Perth Cultural Centre, Chinatown, Claisebrook 
village, New Northbridge and East Perth Power 
Station projects. These projects represent more 
than $9.5billion in investment attraction, over 
$2.5billion in government investment and cover 
245hectares of the Perth CBD.  
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elizabeth  
quay

Construction of Elizabeth Quay forged ahead this year – on 
budget and on schedule – with the inlet and public realm due 
to open in spring 2015:
•	 In September 2013, Leighton Contractors and Broad 

Construction Services (WA) commenced work to 
construct the 2.7hectare inlet and public spaces under a 
$200million Managing Contractor contract (Stage Two).  
Two months later, forward works contractor Georgiou 
Group achieved practical completion and moved offsite. 
Key milestones from both contracts include:
 - Completion of a major program of roadworks to 

improve the connectivity of the road network  
around the site. This included opening a new 
citybound connection along the riverfront and the 
permanent diversion of a section of Riverside Drive  
in January 2014.

 - Major water and power infrastructure upgrades for the 
CBD, which were completed in late 2013.

 - Construction of a temporary bund (or wall) in the 
Swan River providing an exclusion zone for works to 
take place. 

 - Construction of 506metres (more than 50%) of 
retaining walls for the inlet. 

 - Commencement of a revitalisation of Barrack Street 
Jetty worth more than $20million.

 - Relocation of the Sir JJ Talbot Hobbs memorial in  
April 2014. 

Elizabeth Quay will be Perth’s premier waterfront destination, reconnecting 
the iconic Swan River with the city’s central business district. 
Featuring offices, apartments, hotels, shops and restaurants set around a new inlet, Elizabeth Quay will provide 
housing and commercial opportunities for up to 1,400 people and 10,000 workers. Its world-class facilities and 
picturesque location will draw around 4million visitors a year and deliver thousands of jobs in construction 
and future operations.  
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•	 In parallel with construction, the MRA also 
progressed land sales at Elizabeth Quay with 
developers chosen for four of the nine lots available 
around the inlet. 
 - In a deal worth $64million, global oil and gas giant 

Chevron (TAPL) Pty Ltd secured a 6,795sqm site in 
late 2013 for their new Asia-Pacific headquarters. 

 - On the eastern edge of the inlet, a 204-room  
Ritz-Carlton hotel and 420 residential apartments 
will be developed by Far East Consortium, 
one of Asia’s largest property developers. The 
prestigious five-star hotel chain will be the first 
hotel development at Elizabeth Quay and marks 
the return of the prestigious Ritz-Carlton brand to 
Australia.

 - Two sites at the northern edge of the inlet attracted 
interest from all over the globe for a mix of office, 
residential and retail development with five 
proponents shortlisted and invited to submit 
detailed proposals.  O
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PRoJect exPectationS

10

Note: These are estimated figures based on current projections.   *This includes  MRA investment  only.
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2.2
inveStment 
attRaction

b i l l i o n

440
goveRnment  
inveStment*

m i l l i o n

400
hotel  
RoomS

1400
ReSident 

PoPUlation

dWellingS

800

225000
squARe metRes

commeRcial/
office/Retail
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perth  
city link

One of Australia’s most significant transit-oriented developments, Perth City 
Link is removing the barrier between Perth’s city centre and the entertainment 
district of Northbridge for the first time in more than 100 years. 
Perth City Link will create five new connections through the city; provide new residential, retail and 
commercial opportunities; and create high-quality public spaces for the community to enjoy.

Perth City Link is rapidly transforming the face 
of Perth, with major milestones achieved by the 
project’s public and private partners. This year:
•	 On behalf of Seven Entertainment Pty Ltd, 

Leighton Holdings commenced construction of 
the first four buildings in Kings Square in June 
2013. The buildings will house the offices of HBF, 
Shell Australia and John Holland among others 
and are due for completion in mid-2015.

•	 Works commenced on Wellington Street to 
undertake substantial infrastructure upgrades 
including power, water, sewer, gas and 
telecommunications to service the new Perth 
City Link buildings and build the overall capacity 
of the CBD. These works will be completed by 
February 2015.
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•	 The rail project, being undertaken by the Perth 
City Link Rail Alliance (Public Transport Authority, 
John Holland and GHD), was completed in 
December 2013, six months ahead of schedule.  

•	 The Leighton Properties/Mirvac consortium was 
selected to develop the State Government’s land 
holdings within Perth City Link.

•	 The architects of the Perth Arena, a 15,500-seat 
entertainment venue located at the western end of 
the Perth City Link project, received several awards 
at the Australian Institute of Architects National 
Awards ceremony in November 2013.

•	 The Wellington Street Bus Station was demolished 
in March 2014 following appointment of the City 
Busport Alliance (Public Transport Authority, 
Brookfield Multiplex and BG&E) to build the new 
$249million underground bus station by 2016. 

•	 The public space at Perth City Link was announced 
as Yagan Square in June 2014 after the prominent 
Noongar leader. Plans for the square were 
developed as a result of extensive community 
consultation and include permanent food markets, 
lively public open spaces, an Australian native 
garden and Aboriginal artwork. 

•	 Two sites (Lots 2 and 3a) adjacent to Perth Arena 
were released to market in June 2014 for a mix of 
hotel, commercial and retail development. 

PRoJect exPectationS

h e c tA R e s

2020+

PRoJect 
aRea

exPected YeaR of comPletion 

4.0
inveStment 
attRaction

b i l l i o n

1.3
goveRnment  
inveStment*

b i l l i o n

13 500
neW 

WoRkeRS

1650

244 000
squARe metRes

commeRcial/ 
office/Retail

Note: These are estimated figures based on current projections. *This includes MRA, Public Transport Authority and Perth Arena investment.

13.5
4.4

PUBlic 
oPen SPace

h e c t A R e s

ReSidential 
dWellingS

3000
ReSident 
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riverside

Development of the Riverside project continued this year 
with key milestones including:
•	 The release of the 5,335sqm Lot 101 Hay Street  

site, formerly known as Chemlabs, for sale in  
May 2014, with expressions of interest sought from 
developers to construct an apartment, shop and  
local amenities complex. 

•	 Completion of roadworks on Hale Street, the Hay Street 
intersection with the Causeway and the creation of the 
new Braithwaite Street in July 2013. 

•	 The commencement of works on Nelson Crescent that 
will involve relocating underground services, realigning 
roadside kerb and footpath areas and reconfiguring 
on-street parking and taxi bays. These works will be 
completed by October 2014.

•	 Selection of the Waterbank precinct to be one of the 
first two development projects in WA to be rated on 
sustainability, productivity and liveability by the 
national Green Building Council of Australia’s Green Star 
Communities Pilot rating tool. 

Riverside is transforming the eastern gateway to the city by creating a new 
commercial, retail, living, entertainment and recreation precinct on the banks 
of the Swan River. The project will achieve high sustainability standards 
by improving water quality, restoring the river foreshore and encouraging 
walking, cycling and public transport use. 
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The Queens Riverside development by Frasers 
Property Australia also progressed in 2013-14 with:
•	 Construction of the second of four new towers, 

QIII, featuring 265 apartments. Completion is 
scheduled for late 2014.

•	 The commencement of construction and 
apartment sales for the third tower, QII, featuring 
107 apartments. 

•	 The first two of five public artworks celebrating WA 
artists and the area’s location installed in May 2014 
near Fraser Suites Perth. 

•	 Development approval for QI, a 126-apartment 
building with activated ground floor retail.

PRoJect exPectationS

40

Note: These are estimated figures based on current projections.   *This includes  MRA investment  only.

h e c tA R e s

2020+

PRoJect 
aRea

exPected YeaR of comPletion 

2.0
inveStment 
attRaction

b i l l i o n

141
goveRnment  
inveStment*

m i l l i o n 7 000
neW  

PoPUlation

neW  
dWellingS

4 000

94 000
squARe metRes

commeRcial/
office/Retail

6 000 
neW 

WoRkeRS
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perth 
cultural 
centre

•	 1,200 events were held in the Perth Cultural Centre during 
the 2013-14 financial year hosted by the MRA, the resident 
institutions and hundreds of event organisers. Attracting 
more than 415,000 people, these events included the return 
of the extremely successful Fringe World, Chevron’s Festival 
Gardens as part of Perth International Arts Festival, and the 
Illuminites Christmas festival, each attracting thousands of 
people to rediscover the cultural heart of Perth. 

•	 The MRA continued to manage the leases of 28 retailers in 
16 buildings on William Street as part of its award-winning 
regeneration of the heritage-listed area. The precinct 
features an eclectic mix of independent retailers, small bars, 
restaurants and creative industries as well as a number of 
pop-up tenancies.

•	 Lot 404 William Street, a two-storey character  
building situated on 279sqm of land, was released for  
sale in May 2014.

Home to Western Australia’s most significant cultural and learning  
institutions, the Perth Cultural Centre has been transformed by the MRA into 
a vibrant social space where people from all ages and backgrounds interact, 
discover and enjoy. 
Over 1.4million visitors from across the State and around the globe visited the cultural heart of Perth in 
2013-14 as planning continues to address longer term improvement strategies for the precinct.
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PRoJect exPectationS

508
goveRnment 
inveStment*

m i l l i o n

h e c t A R e s

PRoJect 
aRea

8.5
Note:  *This includes MRA, the new WA Museum and other 
government investment.

•	 Development of the 73-room Hotel Alex commenced  
in 2014 to provide a much-needed boost to Perth’s  
hotel market. Located at Lot 102 William Street, the  
hotel is a unique concept being developed by a group  
of prominent Perth businessmen and is expected to  
open in 2015.

•	 Following the success of introducing new food and 
beverage ‘pods’ into the Perth Cultural Centre, the  
MRA extended its leasing arrangements to a host  
of food vans and pop-up stalls to support events and 
draw more visitors to the area to eat, relax and  
enjoy the space. In the past year, approximately 15 
operators have trialled a residency in the  Perth  
Cultural Centre with varying offerings from the  
world famous Ben and Jerry’s ice cream to Jumplings 
(Japanese Dumplings).
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chinatOwn

The historic Chinatown area in 
Northbridge is undergoing a major 
facelift, with a $2million commitment 
from the State Government helping to 
transform this culturally significant 
area into an exciting destination for 
families, locals and tourists. 
The MRA, together with the City of Perth and  
private landowners, is working to revitalise the area 
in a way that celebrates and enhances the unique 
character of Chinatown.
The first revitalisation works were completed in 
early 2014 and included: 
•	 Creation of a striking entry statement on  

Roe Street, including road painting, colourful 
banners and lanterns. 

•	 New decking and screening featuring the  
‘lucky cloud’ – a traditional Chinese motif that 
is associated with good luck – together with an 
elevated Chinese garden.

•	 Expansion of the 2014 Chinese New Year 
celebrations into Chinatown’s laneways with a 
$50,000 grant to the Chung Wah Association. 

•	 Planning for further upgrades including permanent 
lighting, lanterns and vibrant street stencilling. 

PRoJect exPectationS

2.0
goveRnment 
inveStment*

m i l l i o n

*This includes  MRA investment  only.
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claisebrOOk 
village

One of Perth’s earliest large-scale 
inner city urban regeneration 
projects, Claisebrook village 
transformed an industrial 
wasteland into a modern waterfront 
urban village combining high 
quality residential, commercial  
and retail development with 
beautiful parklands, waterways  
and public art. 
The redevelopment of Claisebrook village is  
now 85% complete with planning control for 
most of the redevelopment area handed back  
to the City of Perth for ongoing management. 
The MRA continued activities in 2013-14 in  
the remaining areas including:
•	 Attracting more than $14.5million of 

private investment in the area through 
the determination of four development 
applications.

PRoJect exPectationS

137.5

Note: These are estimated figures based on current projections.   *This includes  MRA investment  only.

h e c t A R e s

2015+

PRoJect 
aRea

exPected YeaR of comPletion 

685
inveStment 
attRaction

m i l l i o n

127
goveRnment  
inveStment*

m i l l i o n 2500
neW  

PoPUlation

neW  
dWellingS

1450

130000
squARe metRes

commeRcial/
office/Retail

6 000 
neW 

WoRkeRS
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new 
nOrthbridge

PRoJect exPectationS

27

Note: These are estimated figures based on current projections.   *This includes  MRA investment  only.

h e c t A R e s

2015+

PRoJect 
aRea

exPected YeaR of comPletion 

300
inveStment 
attRaction

m i l l i o n

60
goveRnment  
inveStment*

m i l l i o n 1250
neW  

PoPUlation

neW  
dWellingS

460

70000
squARe metRes

commeRcial/
office/Retail

3500
neW 

WoRkeRS

The award winning New Northbridge 
project is one of Perth’s greatest 
urban regeneration success stories, 
transforming a prime underutilised 
area near the CBD into a thriving 
residential and business community 
that has generated large-scale  
private investment and a vibrant  
new urban environment. 
Seventy per cent of the project has been 
completed, with planning control returned to  
the local governments (the City of Perth and  
City of vincent).  
The 2013/14 Financial Year was a time of 
consolidation in the New Northbridge Project 
Area, with significant residential developments 
on Newcastle Street and Lindsay Street nearing 
completion.

O
ve

rv
ie

w
: n

ew
 n

or
th

br
id

ge

26



  

O
ve

rv
ie

w
: e

as
t p

er
th

 p
ow

er
 s

ta
tio

n

east perth 
pOwer 
statiOn

The 8.5hectare East Perth Power 
Station (EPPS) site will be transformed 
into a new riverfront destination with 
commercial, retail, residential and 
recreational opportunities that engage 
the picturesque Swan River. 
This will be a pedestrian-friendly area with 
exceptional accessibility, optimising the benefits 
presented by the site’s proximity to major arterial 
roads, rail networks, cycleways and water transport. A 
key objective for the MRA is to ensure that any future 
development on the site appropriately celebrates, 
retains and adapts the heritage values of the power 
station for contemporary use.
In 2013-14, asset management continued including 
building maintenance, landscaping and regular 
security. The MRA continues to monitor market 
conditions and will time the release of land at the 
EPPS to ensure a quality outcome for the project. 

PRoJect exPectationS

8.5

Note: These are estimated figures based on current projections.   *This includes  MRA investment  only.

h e c t A R e s

2020+

PRoJect 
aRea

exPected YeaR of comPletion 

345
inveStment 
attRaction

m i l l i o n

120
goveRnment  
inveStment*

m i l l i o n 2 400
neW  

PoPUlation

neW  
dWellingS

1400

33600
squARe metRes

commeRcial/
office/Retail

1 100 
neW 

WoRkeRS
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midland redevelopment area

The 261hectare Midland Redevelopment Area, with its proud history and 
exciting future, is currently undergoing a renaissance being led by a new 
health campus, thriving arts community and creative industries. The MRA is 
breathing new life into cultural landmarks, such as the iconic Midland Railway 
Workshops, and is promoting Midland as a place of opportunity and culture. 
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midland

At the gateway to the Perth Hills 
and Swan valley, the Midland 
Redevelopment Area covers over 
261hectares of land and represents 
$1.2billion in investment attraction.
Since 2000, the Midland urban renewal program has 
transformed the city centre of Midland, ultimately 
delivering 3,750 new residential dwellings, 7,550 
new jobs and more than $1billion of private sector 
investment to the area.
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ndThis year represented a period of consolidation for the Midland project, with key highlights including:
•	 A Heritage Open Day and auction for the Midland Railway Workshops was held in September 2013, opening up  

this historic precinct to the community and offering people the opportunity to take home a piece of Midland’s  
past. The event attracted nearly 9,000 people.

•	 Construction of the new $360million Midland Public Hospital – a joint State and Commonwealth government 
project being managed by St John of God Health Care – continued on track, reaching its ‘topping out’ milestone  
in November 2013. The hospital is due for completion in 2015. 

•	 Land sales within The Workshops precinct continued, with more than $5million in revenue achieved for future 
commercial, residential and short-stay accommodation, as well as affordable housing. Further parcels of land  
within The Workshops precinct, namely Lot 808 Main Gate and Platingshop Terrace residential lots, were  
released to the market in March 2014.

•	 The MRA began a review of the Midland Master Plan to consolidate completed redevelopment and consider  
future development opportunities that may complement the City of Swan’s Activity Centre Structure Plan. 

•	 A new park in Railway Square, near The Workshops Peace Memorial, was completed in April 2014 in time for  
the annual Anzac Day ceremony, followed by the Stan Gurney Memorial bike race.  These works marked the 
completion of Stage 1A of Railway Square.

•	 General repairs, maintenance and painting was undertaken in and around The Workshops buildings and the site was 
also used as a filming location, providing a backdrop for a number of films, television shows and music videos. 

PRoJect exPectationS

261

Note: These are estimated figures based on current projections.  *This includes MRA, Department of Health and WA Police investment.

h e c t A R e s

2020+

PRoJect 
aRea

exPected YeaR of comPletion 

1.22
inveStment 
attRaction

b i l l i o n

490
goveRnment  
inveStment*

m i l l i o n

3400
neW  

PoPUlation

neW  
dWellingS

2000

370
neW  

hoSPital BedS 7 500 
neW 

WoRkeRS
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Armadale  
redevelopment area

The Armadale Redevelopment 
Area encompasses 2,045hectares 
and will provide an enviable living 
environment with a range of 
housing styles, lifestyle choices, and 
employment opportunities, including 
a transit-oriented development 
at Armadale City West, the new 
330hectare Forrestdale Business Park 
and the Wungong Urban residential 
development that is providing housing 
for 40,000 new residents. 
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wungOng 
urban

This environmentally-sensitive development will provide up to 18,000 new residential lots, a town centre and new 
schools set amongst high quality public open spaces, living streams and a significant regional recreational area. 
Significant progress was achieved on this vast project in 2013/14:    
•	 Structure planning for the Wungong Regional Recreation Grounds commenced.
•	 Strong development activity resulted in the lodgement of several Structure Plan amendments.
•	 Work commenced to design key roads within the development, which will help align critical service  

infrastructure and facilitate improved efficiencies to deliver affordable housing.
•	 A project reference group, comprised of all relevant State Government agencies, was formed to help resolve 

environmental and water resource issues associated with planning and development in the Wungong Urban area.
•	 Water quality monitoring and benchmarking commenced with the first water report and database presented to 

relevant State Government agencies in June 2014.
•	 Approval of 135 development applications for the Wungong Urban project area was achieved, with a total private 

investment value of more than $32million.
Note: These are estimated figures based on current projections.  * This includes MRA Developer Contribution Scheme funded capital works.

PRoJect  
exPectationS

1580
h e c t A R e s 2020+

PRoJect 
aRea

exPected YeaR of comPletion 

268
goveRnment  
inveStment*

m i l l i o n
neW  

dWellingS

16 000
40000

neW  
PoPUlation

The award-winning Wungong Urban 
project, located three kilometres west 
of the Armadale city centre, showcases 
sustainable urban design and best 
practice water management and design.  

750
inveStment 
attRaction

m i l l i o n
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Armadale’s regeneration is one of the 
State’s largest and most ambitious 
urban renewal projects. Delivered 
across six precincts over more 
than a decade, the redevelopment 
has already created enormous 
opportunities for the region and 
delivered new residential, commercial 
and civic infrastructure for the fast-
growing south metropolitan corridor. 

Armadale’s transformation realised several major milestones this year:
•	 Manufacturing giant Hitachi Construction Machinery (Australia) Pty Ltd purchased a 10hectare site in Forrestdale 

Business Park West in August 2013 for its new $100million headquarters and has subsequently lodged a 
development application to commence construction works in 2014.

•	 A new Structure Plan was released for the western part of the Forrestdale Business Park in December 2013, paving 
the way for development of the dynamic industrial hub to commence.

•	 The $1million refurbishment of the historic Armadale Post Office building on Jull Street commenced in late 2013.  
The works are due for completion in August 2014 and will become the new Armadale local office for the MRA.

•	 The Ranford Road expansion, comprising dual carriageway works from Armadale Road to Tonkin Highway, 
entered the final stage of completion to link the two Forrestdale Business Parks.

•	 A total of 112 development applications were approved, totalling more than $58million of private investment in 
the area.

•	 Structure Plan amendments commenced for the land west of the Armadale City Centre and railway line to deliver 
a stronger focus on transit-oriented development.  
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PRoJect exPectationS

465
h e c t A R e s

2020+

PRoJect 
aRea

exPected YeaR of comPletion 

477
inveStment 
attRaction

m i l l i o n 110
goveRnment  
inveStment*

m i l l i o n 3890
neW  

PoPUlation

neW  
dWellingS

1150

20 000
neW 

WoRkeRS

2504000
squARe metRes
( e s t i m a t e d )

commeRcial/
office/Retail

Note: These are estimated figures based on current projections.  *This includes MRA Developer Contribution Scheme funded capital works.
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scarborough 
redevelopment area
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The 100hectare Scarborough 
Redevelopment Area includes 
Scarborough Beach, which is a prime 
beachfront and significant State 
tourist destination. The MRA is 
working to draw on the area’s unique 
identity to revitalise Scarborough and 
transform it into one of the nation’s 
premiere beachfront destinations. 
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In its first full project year, a number of milestones were reached in Scarborough including: 
•	 Formally defining the Scarborough Redevelopment Area, which includes an area stretching 1.6kilometres along 

the Scarborough beachfront and east along Scarborough Beach Road for 800metres as far as Hinderwell Street.
•	 Approval of the Interim Scarborough Redevelopment Scheme in June 2014. The Interim Scheme formally 

transferred planning and development control of the project area from the City of Stirling to the MRA. 
•	 Opening a Scarborough MRA office on the beachfront.
•	 Appointment of the Scarborough Land Redevelopment Committee to provide planning advice on local matters 

(for membership see page 44).
•	 Consultation with community members and stakeholders, via the Scarborough views website, gathered more 

than 3,000 suggestions on enhancing the area. Of the 3,000 respondents, over 35% were local residents. 
•	 Commenced development of a draft master plan for the area, due to be released for public comment in late 2014.
•	 Installation of public art celebrating the area’s surf lifesaving history, which was unveiled at the start of the 

Australian Surf Lifesaving Championships in March 2014, free WiFi along the beachfront and feature lighting of 
the iconic clock tower.  

•	 Allocation of $150,000 in funding for the City of Stirling’s summer events program to attract more families to the 
area and boost the vibrancy of the beachfront. 

•	 Discussions with private landowners and private operators to potentially deliver more residential, commercial 
(including retail, food and beverage) and hotel options.

scarbOrOugh

The Scarborough Redevelopment Area 
is undergoing an almost $60million 
revitalisation that will transform the area 
into a vibrant hub of activity for people of 
all ages to enjoy at all times of the year. 
The urban renewal of this major tourist beach will help 
the area fulfil its potential to be one of Australia’s best 
beachfront destinations. 
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PRoJect exPectationS

30
State 

goveRnment 
inveStment

m i l l i o n

27.4
local 

goveRnment  
inveStment*

m i l l i o n
* c i t y O f s t i r l i n g

h e c t A R e s

PRoJect 
aRea

100
Note: These are estimated figures based on current projections. 
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subiaco 
redevelopment area

The Subiaco Redevelopment Area 
has transformed more than 80 
hectares of under-utilised land into a 
contemporary urban village. 
Acknowledged as one of Australia’s best urban 
renewal projects, Subi Centro is a cosmopolitan  
mix of townhouses, apartments, parkland, office  
and retail spaces. 
Recognised internationally as one of Australia’s  
best urban renewal projects, the Subiaco 
Redevelopment Area has transformed more than 
80hectares of largely derelict industrial land into a 
vibrant, transit-oriented, sustainable extension of  
the existing Subiaco community on the doorstep of 
Perth’s CBD.
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subi centrO
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More than 86% of the Subi Centro 
Redevelopment Area has been 
completed with planning control 
returned to the City of Subiaco for 
ongoing management. 
Work on the remaining areas, including the 
Australian Fine China (AFC), Hood Street and Centro 
North precincts, continues with several milestone 
achievements delivered this year including: 
•	 Construction of new residential and retail 

developments continued by Pindan and QUBE 
Property Group within the one hectare Centro 
North precinct, adjacent to Subiaco Square.  With a 
combined estimated development cost of $53million, 
Centro North will be home to 270 future residents.

•	 WA property developer Pindan – in conjunction with 
Otan Property Funds Management – was selected to 
deliver three residential developments at the AFC 
site, including over 170 residential units. The first 
residents have moved in to the precinct with all of 
the nine residential lots sold and construction well 
underway.

•	 Development approval was granted to Finbar Group 
Ltd for a seven-storey residential and commercial 
development on the corner of Roydhouse and 
Hood streets in October 2013. The development 
incorporates two buildings with a total of 245 
apartments and 19 commercial tenancies.

PRoJect exPectationS

Note: These are estimated figures based on current projections.  *This includes MRA and other government investment.

h e c t A R e s

2019+

PRoJect 
aRea

exPected YeaR of comPletion 

1.0
inveStment 
attRaction

b i l l i o n

200
goveRnment  
inveStment*

m i l l i o n 3600
neW  

PoPUlation

neW  
dWellingS

1975

287000
squARe metRes

commeRcial/
office/Retail

6 800 
neW 

WoRkeRS

84.5
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project total land government $ investment Attraction total
Perth City Link 13.5ha $1.3 billion* $4 billion $5.3 billion

Riverside 40ha $141 million $2 billion $2.1 billion
Elizabeth Quay 10ha $440 million $2.2 billion $2.6 billion

Perth Cultural Centre 8.5ha $508 million* - $508 million
Midland 261ha $490 million* $1.2 billion $1.7 billion

Armadale 465ha $110 million $477 million $587 million
Wungong Urban 1,580ha $268 million $750 million $1 billion

Chinatown -- $2 million -- $2 million
Scarborough 100ha $57 million* -- $57 million

New Northbridge 27ha $60 million $300 million $360 million
Subi Centro 84.5ha $200 million* $1 billion $1.2 billion

Claisebrook village 137.5ha $127 million $685 millon $812 million
East Perth Power Station 8.5ha $120 million $345 million $465 million

totAl 2735.5ha $3.82 billion $12.96 billion $16.7 billion
* This includes MRA and other government investment
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39

significAnt issues impActing the Agency

With this awareness comes the responsibility to 
 remain forward-thinking and responsive as the 
economy of Western Australia changes. Currently  
well into the transitional shift from mining construction 
to production and export-led growth, a short-term 
period of adjustment is expected for the Western 
Australian economy. However, boosted by strong 
growth in other sectors, including above-average 
population growth, the State continues to outperform 
the rest of the nation.
The State’s population is forecast to grow to 3million  
by 2026, with the population of the Perth and Peel 
region expected to reach up to 2.3million people. 
The steady population growth will continue to drive 
demand for government services, as well as housing 
and consumer spending. 

Perth city’s hotel accommodation market softened 
through 2013 as resource demand stabilised, with a 
number of major projects moving into production 
thereby reducing some flow-on demand for 
accommodation. Despite the softening, Perth still 
received nearly 1.7million intrastate, interstate and 
international overnight visitors.
The State’s economy is expected to grow broadly in 
line with long-run average growth. Major institutions, 
including financial, investment and government 
entities, remain confident in the long-term economic 
growth fundamentals of Western Australia as evidenced 
by recent investor activity.
In response to the transitioning economy and strong 
long term growth, the MRA remains committed to 
delivering new hotel and residential accommodation, 
as well as commercial space to meet the future needs 
of metropolitan Perth, while also exercising fiscal 
prudence in line with its government partners.  

The MRA recognises the tremendous impact its projects will have on the evolving landscape and culture of the 
Perth metropolitan area.
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oRgAnisAtionAl stRuctuRe
The Organisational Chart below represents the MRA’s Reporting structure: 

minister for planning

board

chief executive 
officer

Audit and Risk 
committee

Armadale land 
Redevelopment 

committee

central perth land 
Redevelopment 

committee

midland land 
Redevelopment 

committee

scarborough land 
Redevelopment 

committee

subiaco land 
Redevelopment 

committee

executive director 
planning

executive director 
project delivery

executive director 
place management

executive director 
corporate services

40



O
ve

rv
ie

w

boARd 
As a Statutory Authority of the State Government  
of Western Australia, the MRA is governed by a  
Board who is appointed by and answerable to  
the Minister for Planning. The MRA Board sets  
the strategic direction of the MRA and monitors  
its performance.  
The Board’s key functions are:
•	 Strategy 
•	 Monitoring 
•	 Risk Management 
•	 Compliance
The Board comprises seven members, each  
appointed by the Minister for Planning for a term  
no longer than three years. Members are eligible  
for reappointment. 
The Act requires that of the seven Board members:
•	 one is to be an appointed member of the board or 

management of the Western Australian Planning 
Commission (WAPC) nominated by the WAPC;

•	 one has knowledge of or experience in local 
government; and 

•	 each of the others is to be a person who, in the 
opinion of the Minister, has relevant qualifications. 

A relevant qualification is knowledge of, and  
experience in, one or more of the fields of urban 
planning, business management, property 
development, financial management, engineering, 
transport, housing and community affairs. Board 
members are remunerated according to Public Sector 
Commission guidelines. Those members who are  
full-time public servants are not remunerated. Eleven 
Board meetings were held in the 2013-2014 year.

mr Richard muirhead, 
chairman 
 

Mr Richard Muirhead, Principal, Spiral Consulting, 
has extensive experience as an executive and chief 
executive officer for the WA Government. From July 
2010 to November 2011, Mr Muirhead was the State 
Director Commonwealth Heads of Government Meeting 
(CHOGM) assisting the Commonwealth in staging 
the international event and developing initiatives to 
promote Western Australia, assist local business and 
encourage community participation. Prior to CHOGM, 
Mr Muirhead held the position of Chief Executive 
Officer of Tourism WA for 10 years and the (former) 
Department of Commerce and Trade from 1997 to 2001.

mr Jeff dowling,  
deputy chairman 

Mr Jeff Dowling is the Chair of the MRA’s Audit and 
Risk Committee and Subiaco Land Redevelopment 
Committee. Mr Dowling, retired managing partner, 
Ernst & Young Western Region, is a highly experienced 
corporate leader with 36 years of experience in 
professional consultancy. Mr Dowling has held 
numerous leadership positions at Ernst & Young and 
his expertise centres around audit, risk and financial 
transactions. Mr Dowling is a Fellow of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors, the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants Australia and the Financial 
Services Institute of Australasia. Mr Dowling holds a 
directorship of Sirius Resources NL, Atlas Iron Ltd,  
NRW Ltd and Puravida NL. Mr Dowling also holds 
a board position for the Telethon Institute for Child 
Health Research.

boARd And committees
board meetings held in 2013-14 year: 11
Position Members as at  

30 June 2014
Meetings 
attended

Type of  
Remuneration

Period of  
Membership

Actual  
Remuneration

Chair Mr Richard Muirhead 11 Per Annum Expiry 31 December 2015 $53,550.00
Deputy Chair Mr Jeff Dowling 10 Per Annum Expiry 31 December 2015 $40,163.00
Member Mr Charles Johnson 11 Per Annum Expiry 31 December 2014 $33,650.00
Member Ms Fiona Kalaf 9 Per Annum Expiry 31 December 2016 $33,650.00
Member Mayor Carol Adams 11 Per Annum Expiry 31 December 2015 $33,650.00
Member Mr Nick Bruining 11 Per Annum Expiry 31 December 2015 $33,650.00
Member Mr Eric Lumsden 11 Per Annum Expiry 31 December 2016 $33,650.00
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mr charles Johnson,  
member

Mr Charles Johnson is Chair of the MRA’s Central Perth 
Land Redevelopment Committee and was the former 
Chairman of the Armadale Redevelopment Authority. 
He has a background in urban geography and town 
planning, with over 30 years of experience working at 
Local and State Government levels as well as a period 
in private consultancy. Mr Johnson is currently the 
principal of his planning consultancy, President of 
the Planning Institute of Australia (WA division) and 
Presiding Member of the Joint Central Metropolitan 
Development Assessment Panel.

ms fiona kalaf,  
Board member

Ms Fiona Kalaf is the Chair of the MRA’s Scarborough 
Redevlopment Committee.  Ms Kalaf has wide-ranging 
business experience, working in senior executive 
positions for high profile organisations in Western 
Australia and currently holds the position of Chief 
Executive Officer of Lifeline WA. Ms Kalaf also has 
considerable board and committee experience, including 
roles with the Central Perth Planning Committee, the 
Chairperson of the Art Gallery of Western Australia, the 
UWA Advisory Board to the Lawrence Wilson Art Gallery, 
the Council of WA, the Curtin University of Technology 
Community Leaders Forum and the Australasian 
Institute of Banking and Finance.

mayor carol adams,  
Board member

Councillor Carol Adams is the Chair of the MRA’s 
Armadale Land Redevelopment Committee. Cr Adams 
was elected as a councillor to the then Town of Kwinana 
in May 1997 and served as Deputy Mayor from 2005 to 
2006 before being elected as the first woman Mayor to 
the Town in May 2006. Her current term expires in 2017. 
Cr Adams is a member of the South West Metropolitan 
Zone and a WA Local Government Association (WALGA) 
State Council delegate. Until 30 June 2014, she was 
Director on the WA Local Government Superannuation 
Trustee Plan Board. 

mr nick Bruining,  
Board member 

Mr Nick Bruining is the Principal of N.C. Bruining & 
Associates. Also a freelance journalist, commentator 
and broadcaster, Mr Bruining is the Chairman of the 
MRA’s Midland Land Redevelopment Committee and a 
former director of the Financial Planning Association of 
Australia Ltd.

mr eric lumsden,  
Board member

Mr Eric Lumsden is currently the Chairman of the 
Western Australian Planning Commission with his 
previous position as Director General of the Department 
of Planning. With more than 30 years’ experience in 
local government, Mr Lumsden has previously held 
positions as Chief Executive Officer of the City of 
Melville and City of Swan, Commissioner of the City 
of South Perth, and Chair of the Council of Swan TAFE 
and Eastern Metropolitan Regional Councils CEO 
Group. Mr Lumsden is a Life Fellow of the Planning 
Institute of Australia, Fellow of the Australian Institute 
of Management and Fellow and past President of the 
Local Government Managers Association (WA Division). 
In 2005 Mr Lumsden was awarded the Public Service 
Medal for his contribution to Local Government and a 
place on the Queen’s Birthday Honours List.

boARd And committees (continued)
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committees
audit and Risk committee  
The MRA Board has an Audit and Risk Committee 
that addresses issues particular to the roles and 
responsibilities assigned by the Board to the 
Committee. Principally, these relate to financial 
and risk issues that present for the MRA. Quorum 
for the Audit and Risk Committee is two members.  
Four (4) Audit and Risk Committee meetings 
were held in the 2013-2014 year. Audit and Risk 
Committee members are not remunerated.

land Redevelopment committees
The five Land Redevelopment Committees 
(LRCs) for Armadale, Central Perth, Midland, 
Scarborough and Subiaco have planning powers 
delegated by the MRA Board and provide advice 
on local matters.  
The Act provides that a Land Redevelopment 
Committee (LRC) consists of five members 
appointed by the Minister of whom:
•	 one is to be a member of the MRA’s board or 

management nominated by the MRA;
•	 one is to be a person nominated in accordance 

with section 81 of the Act; and
•	 each of the others is to be a person who in 

the opinion of the Minister has relevant 
qualifications. 

boARd And committees (continued)

Audit and Risk committee | meetings held in 2013-14 year: 4
Position Members as at 30 June 2014: Meetings attended
Chair Mr Jeff Dowling 4
Deputy Chair Ms Fiona Kalaf 3
Member Mr Nick Bruining 4

Armadale land Redevelopment committee | meetings held in 2013-14 year: 7

Position Members as at  
30 June 2014

Meetings 
attended

Type of 
Remuneration

Period of 
Membership

Actual 
Remuneration

Chair Mayor Carol Adams 7 Per meeting Expiry 26 Aug 2015 $2,800.00
Deputy Chair Mr Clayton Higham 7 Per meeting Expiry 26 Aug 2015 $900.00
Member Mr Matthew Handcock 7 Per meeting Expiry 10 Mar 2016 $1,890.00
Member Mayor Henry Zelones 6 Per meeting Expiry 10 Mar 2016 $1,890.00
Member Ms Diana Wearing-Smith 0* Per meeting Expiry 19 May 2016 -
Position Former members Meetings 

attended
Type of 

Remuneration
Period of 

Membership
Actual 

Remuneration
Member Mr Linton Reynolds 4** Per meeting 23 Jan 2015 $1,080.00

*Ms Diana Wearing-Smith commenced as a member on 19 May 2014. There were no Armadale LRC meetings held between Ms Wearing-Smith’s commencement and 30 June 2014.
** Mr Linton Reynolds’ term expired on 23 January 2014.  As per section 87(1) of the Act, Mr Reynolds continued to be a member until 10 March 2014.

central perth land Redevelopment committee | meetings held in 2013-14 year: 8
Position Members as at 30 June 2014 Meetings 

attended
Type of 

Remuneration
Period of 

Membership
Actual 

Remuneration
Chair Mr Charles Johnson 8 Per meeting Expiry 27 May 2015 $2,800.00
Deputy Chair Mr Lino Iacomella 7 Per meeting Expiry 26 Aug 2015 $2,400.00
Member Lord Mayor Lisa Scaffidi 7 Per meeting Expiry 10 Mar 2016 $1,890.00
Member Prof. Geoffrey London 6 Per meeting Expiry 27 May 2015 $1,620.00
Member Ms Jennifer Duffecy 7 Per meeting Expiry 27 May 2015 $1,890.00

midland land Redevelopment committee | meetings held in 2013-14 year: 4
Position Members as at 30 June 2014 Meetings 

attended
Type of 

Remuneration
Period of 

Membership
Actual 

Remuneration
Chair Mr Nicholas Bruining 3 Per meeting Expiry 26 Aug 2015 $800.00
Deputy Chair Ms Cathy verrier 3 Per meeting Expiry 26 Aug 2015 $1,200.00
Member Mr Brian Hunt 4 Per meeting Expiry 10 Mar 2016 $1,080.00
Member Mayor Charlie Zannino 4 Per meeting Expiry 10 Mar 2016 $1,080.00
Member Mr Clayton Higham 4 Per meeting Expiry 26 Aug 2015 $540.00
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boARd And committees (continued)

scarborough land Redevelopment committee | meetings held in 2013-14 year: 4
Position Members as at 30 June 2014 Meetings 

attended
Type of 

Remuneration
Period of 

Membership
Actual 

Remuneration
Chair Ms Fiona Kalaf 3 Per meeting Expiry 26 Aug 2015 $1,200.00
Deputy Chair Ms Stephanie Buckland* 3 Per meeting Expiry 26 Aug 2015 -
Member Cr David Boothman 4 Per meeting Expiry 10 Mar 2016 $1,080.00
Member Mr David Thomson* 4 Per meeting Expiry 10 Mar 2016 -
Member Mr James Hewitt 4 Per meeting Expiry 26 Aug 2015 $1,080.00

* As per Premiers Circular 2010/02, Ms Stephanie Buckland and Mr David Thomson are not eligible for remuneration.

subiaco land Redevelopment committee | meetings held in 2013-14 year: 3
Position Members as at 30 June 2014 Meetings 

attended
Type of 

Remuneration
Period of 

Membership
Actual 

Remuneration
Chair Mr Jeff Dowling 2 Per meeting Expiry 26 Aug 2015 $800.00
Deputy Chair Ms Karen Hyde 1 Per meeting Expiry 26 Aug 2015 $300.00
Member Cr Mark Burns 1 Per meeting Expiry 10 Mar 2016 $270.00
Member Mr Loren White 3 Per meeting Expiry 10 Mar 2016 $1,080.00
Member Mr David Hartree 3 Per meeting Expiry 19 May 2016 $1,080.00
Position Former members: Meetings 

attended
Type of 

Remuneration
Period of 

Membership
Actual 

Remuneration
Deputy Chair Dr Lynley Hewett* 2 Per meeting 23 Jan 2015 $900.00

* Dr Lynley Hewett’s term expired 21 October 2013.  As per section 87(1) of the Act, Dr Hewett continued to be a member until  
21 January 2014.

land Redevelopment committees 
(continued)
A relevant qualification is knowledge of, and 
experience in, one or more of the fields of urban 
planning, business management, property 
development, financial management, engineering, 
transport, housing and community affairs. 
Membership of the LRCs represents a cross-section 
of experience in local government, planning 
and urban renewal, and those with a strong 
understanding of the needs of local communities.  
Members of LRCs are appointed for a term no 
longer than two years and may be reappointed. As 
per section 103(2) of the Act, three members of an 
LRC constitute a quorum.
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executive mAnAgement
In accordance with section 109(2) of the Act and subject 
to the control of the MRA’s board of management, the 
Chief Executive Officer administers the day to day 
operations of the Authority.

The MRA’s organisational structure has four divisions 
– Planning, Project Delivery, Place Management 
and Corporate Services – with each managed by an 
Executive Director. Working together, each division 
contributes to the delivery of redevelopment projects of 
strategic significance that are changing the way people 
interact with metropolitan Perth. 

The Planning Division consists of three 
directorates: Urban Design, Innovation and  
Strategy, and Statutory Planning. Focusing on policy, 
planning and design, research initiatives and best 
practices, the Planning Division encourages sustainable 
and innovative urban redevelopment.

The Project Delivery division consists of three 
directorates: Business Development, Operations, and 
Sales. Focusing on the strategic direction, leadership 
and delivery of major and state significant projects, the 
Project Delivery division implements sales strategies, 
sales release processes and product positioning and 
investment attraction activities across the MRA’s 
Redevelopment Areas. 

The Place Management division is made up of three 
directorates: Place Activation, Communications, 
and Commercial Operations. Creating dynamic 
communities where people want to live, work and play, 
the Place Activation division delivers meaningful and 
engaging communications, spaces and events while 
also ensuring diligent asset management for the MRA. 

The Corporate Services division is made up of four 
directorates: Finance and Treasury, Procurement 
and Contracts, Business Services, and Legal and 
Governance Services. By continually encouraging 
business improvements and efficiencies, the Corporate 
Services division provides support to the whole of the 
organisation with specialised professional knowledge. 

AdministeRed legislAtion
The MRA administers the Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority Act 2011 along with the 
subsidiary Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority 
Regulations 2011.

otheR key legislAtion impActing  
on mRA Activities
•	 Auditor General Act 2006
•	 Building Act 2011
•	 Competition and Consumer Act 2010
•	 Construction Contracts Act 2004
•	 Contaminated Sites Act 2003
•	 Disability Services Act 1993
•	 Disability Discrimination Act 1992
•	 Environmental Protection Act 1986
•	 Environment Protection and Biodiversity  

Conservation Act 1999
•	 Equal Opportunity Act 1984
•	 Financial Management Act 2006
•	 Freedom of Information Act 1992
•	 Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990
•	 Industrial Relations Act 1979
•	 Land Administration Act 1997
•	 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1960
•	 Main Roads Act 1930
•	 Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993
•	 Occupational Health and Safety Act 1984
•	 Planning and Development Act 2005
•	 Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003
•	 Public Sector Management Act 1994
•	 Racial Discrimination Act 1975
•	 State Records Act 2000
•	 State Superannuation Act 2000
•	 State Supply Commission Act 1991
•	 Statutory Corporations (Liability of Directors) Act 1996
•	 Swan and Canning Rivers Management Act 2006
•	 Trade Marks Act 1995
•	 Transfer of Land Act 1893
•	 Workers Compensation and Injury Management  

Act 1981

boARd And committees (continued)
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state government goals state building -  
major projects
Building strategic 
infrastructure that will  
create jobs and underpin 
Western Australia’s long- 
term economic development.

financial and economic 
Responsibility
Responsibly managing the 
State’s finances through the 
efficient and effective delivery 
of services, encouraging 
economic activity and 
reducing regulatory burdens 
on the private sector. 

outcomes based  
services delivery
Greater focus on achieving 
results in key service delivery 
areas for the benefit of all 
Western Australians.

stronger focus  
on Regions
Greater focus on service 
delivery, infrastructure 
investment and economic 
development to improve 
the overall quality of life in 
remote and regional areas.

social and  
environmental 
Responsibility
Ensuring that economic 
activity is managed in a 
socially and environmentally 
responsible manner for  
the long-term benefit of  
the State.

mRA Redevelopment Area objectives
To build a Sense of Place in the 
redevelopment areas by supporting unique 
and high quality design, heritage protection, 
public art, and cultural activities that respond 
to Perth’s environment, climate and lifestyle.

P

The MRA’s purpose is to 
deliver redevelopment 
project of strategic 
significant in metropolitan 
Perth. 
Therefore this State 
Government Goal is not 
applicable.

P

To promote Economic Wellbeing by 
supporting, where appropriate,  
development that facilitates investment  
and provides opportunity for local  
businesses and emerging industries to  
satisfy market demand.

P P P P

To promote Urban Efficiency through 
infrastructure and buildings, the mix of 
land use and facilitating a cri tical mass of 
population and employment.

P P

To enhance Connectivity and reduce the 
need to travel by supporting development 
aimed at well-designed places that support 
walking, cycling and public transit.

P P P

To promote Social Inclusion by encouraging, 
where appropriate, a diverse range of housing 
and by supporting community infrastructure, 
activities and opportunities for visitors and 
residents to socialise. 

P P

To enhance Environmental Integrity by 
encouraging ecologically sustainable design, 
resource efficiency, recycling, renewable 
energy and protection of the local ecology.

P P

peRfoRmAnce mAnAgement fRAmewoRk
The Western Australian Government has five goals that guide the development of policies, programs and services within 
its agencies. The MRA supports these State Government Goals through its Redevelopment Area Objectives and Corporate 
Objectives and their associated Key Performance Indicators.
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state government goals state building -  
major projects
Building strategic 
infrastructure that will  
create jobs and underpin 
Western Australia’s long- 
term economic development.

financial and economic 
Responsibility
Responsibly managing the 
State’s finances through the 
efficient and effective delivery 
of services, encouraging 
economic activity and 
reducing regulatory burdens 
on the private sector. 

outcomes based  
services delivery
Greater focus on achieving 
results in key service delivery 
areas for the benefit of all 
Western Australians.

stronger focus  
on Regions
Greater focus on service 
delivery, infrastructure 
investment and economic 
development to improve 
the overall quality of life in 
remote and regional areas.

social and  
environmental 
Responsibility
Ensuring that economic 
activity is managed in a 
socially and environmentally 
responsible manner for  
the long-term benefit of  
the State.

mRA corporate objectives  
To ensure Sound Financial Management 
by enhancing open, transparent and 
accountable governance that strengthens our 
financial position, demonstrating effective 
asset stewardship and encouraging private 
sector investment

P

The MRA’s purpose is to 
deliver redevelopment 
project of strategic 
significant in metropolitan 
Perth. 
Therefore this State 
Government Goal is not 
applicable.

To ensure Effective Stakeholder 
Relationships by identifying our key 
stakeholders, communicating our success 
stories in innovative ways, ensuring 
meaningful engagement, and building 
partnerships that enable the MRA to achieve 
its objectives.

P P

To retain Motivated and Talented People by 
ensuring that a strong corporate culture is 
built through recruitment and retention of 
the best and the brightest, making the MRA 
an employer of choice.

P

To achieve Business Efficiency by continually 
encouraging business improvements 
and regularly reviewing processes and 
procedures in search of best practice. 

P P

peRfoRmAnce mAnAgement fRAmewoRk (continued)
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To the Parliament of Western Australia

metRopolitAn Redevelopment 
AuthoRity 

RepoRt on the finAnciAl 
stAtements 
I have audited the accounts and financial statements of 
the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority.
The financial statements comprise the Statement of 
Financial Position as at 30 June 2014, the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in 
Equity and Statement of Cash Flows for the year then 
ended, and Notes comprising a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

boARd’s Responsibility foR the 
finAnciAl stAtements
The Board is responsible for keeping proper accounts, 
and the preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions, 
and for such internal control as the Board determines 
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

AuditoR’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial 
statements based on my audit. The audit was 
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing 
Standards. Those Standards require compliance 
with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit 
engagements and that the audit be planned and 
performed to obtain reasonable assurance about 

whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain 
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In 
making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the Authority’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
the Board, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

opinion 
In my opinion, the financial statements are based 
on proper accounts and present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority at 30 June 2014 and its 
financial performance and cash flows for the year 
then ended. They are in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions.

RepoRt on contRols 
I have audited the controls exercised by the 
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority during the year 
ended 30 June 2014. 

Controls exercised by the Metropolitan Redevelopment 
Authority are those policies and procedures established 
by the Board to ensure that the receipt, expenditure 
and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal 
of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in 
accordance with legislative provisions.

boARd’s Responsibility foR 
contRols
The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate 
system of internal control to ensure that the receipt, 
expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition 
and disposal of public and other property, and the 
incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the 
Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s 
Instructions, and other relevant written law.

AuditoR’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the controls 
exercised by the Metropolitan Redevelopment 
Authority based on my audit conducted in accordance 
with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain 
audit evidence about the adequacy of controls to 
ensure that the Authority complies with the legislative 
provisions. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor’s judgement and include an evaluation of the 
design and implementation of rtelevant controls.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

independent AuditoR’s RepoRt auditor general
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opinion 
In my opinion, the controls exercised by the 
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority are sufficiently 
adequate to provide reasonable assurance that the 
receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the 
acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring 
of liabilities have been in accordance with legislative 
provisions during the year ended 30 June 2014.

RepoRt on the key peRfoRmAnce 
indicAtoRs 
I have audited the key performance indicators of the 
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority for the year 
ended 30 June 2014. 

The key performance indicators are the key 
effectiveness indicators and the key efficiency 
indicators that provide information on outcome 
achievement and service provision.

boARd’s Responsibility foR the key 
peRfoRmAnce indicAtoRs 
The Board is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the key performance indicators in 
accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 
and the Treasurer’s Instructions and for such controls 
as the Board determines necessary to ensure that the 
key performance indicators fairly represent indicated 
performance.

AuditoR’s Responsibility 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the key 
performance indicators based on my audit conducted 
in accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance 
Standards. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain 
audit evidence about the key performance indicators. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks 
of material misstatement of the key performance 
indicators. In making these risk assessments the 
auditor considers internal control relevant to the 
Board’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
key performance indicators in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. 
An audit also includes evaluating the relevance and 
appropriateness of the key performance indicators for 
measuring the extent of outcome achievement and 
service provision. 

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

opinion 
In my opinion, the key performance indicators of 
the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority are 
relevant and appropriate to assist users to assess the 
Authority’s performance and fairly represent indicated 
performance for the year ended 30 June 2014.

independence 
In conducting this audit, I have complied with the 
independence requirements of the Auditor General Act 
2006 and Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards, 
and other relevant ethical requirements. 

mAtteRs RelAting to the 
electRonic publicAtion of the 
Audited finAnciAl stAtements 
And key peRfoRmAnce indicAtoRs 
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements 
and key performance indicators of the Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority for the year ended 30 
June 2014 included on the Authority’s website. The 
Authority’s management is responsible for the integrity 
of the Authority’s website. This audit does not provide 
assurance on the integrity of the Authority’s website. 
The auditor’s report refers only to the financial 
statements and key performance indicators described 
above. It does not provide an opinion on any other 
information which may have been hyperlinked to/
from these financial statements or key performance 
indicators. If users of the financial statements and key 
performance indicators are concerned with the inherent 
risks arising from publication on a website, they are 
advised to refer to the hard copy of the audited financial 
statements and key performance indicators to confirm 
the information contained in this website version of the 
financial statements and key performance indicators. 

independent AuditoR’s RepoRt (continued)

colin muRphy 
AUDITOR GENERAL  

FOR WESTERN AUSTRALIA  
Perth, Western Australia 

29 August 2014
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ceRtificAtion of finAnciAl stAtements 
foR the yeAR ended 30 June 2014

The accompanying financial statements of the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority have been prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Financial 
Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year ended 30 June 2014 and the financial position 
for the period ended 30 June 2014.
At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.   
   

Richard Muirhead Kieran Kinsella  Jeff Dowling  Mark Reutens
Chairperson Chief Executive Officer  Deputy Chairperson Chief Finance Officer

Date: 21 August 2014

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the period ended 30 June 2013

MR A A N N UA L R EPORT |  2012-2013 33

CERTIFICATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The accompanying financial statements of the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority have been prepared in compliance with the provisions of the  
Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year ended 30 June 2013  
and the financial position for the period ended 30 June 2013.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars included in the financial statements misleading or 
inaccurate.

Richard Muirhead 
Chairperson of  
Accountable Authority

Kieran Kinsella 
Chief Executive Officer

Jeff Dowling 
Deputy Chairperson of  
Accountable Authority

Mark Reutens 
Chief Finance Officer

Date: 21 August 2013
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stAtement of compRehensive income
foR the yeAR ended 30 June 2014

  2014 2013
 Notes $’ 000 $’ 000

INCOME
SALES INCOME
Sales 4 76,122  6,400
Total Sales Income  76,122  6,400

OTHER INCOME
Developer Contribution Fees (DCS)  5,330  3,731
Interest 5 879  50 
Rental   2,062  1,831
Reduction in the Provision for Deferred Works   -  4,538
Other 6 2,131  2,697
Total Other Income  10,402  12,847

TOTAL INCOME  86,524  19,247

EXPENSES
Administration  325  343
Communications  586   572 
Cost of Goods Sold 4 73,061   5,077
Employee Benefits 7 11,398   10,123
Supplies and Services 8  5,999   5,316
Depreciation and Amortisation  9  1,271   645
Developer Contribution Expenses  5,330   3,731
Development Control  2,174   734 
Economic and Community Development  367   309
Environmental Remediation  125   18
Finance Costs  1,813   1,712
Members Allowances  339   287
Other Expenses 10  1,686   728
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  2014 2013 
 Notes $’ 000 $’ 000

EXPENSES (continued)
Property and Estate Management  682   455
Property Maintenance  3,275   2,016
Sales and Marketing  3,132   3,193
Infrastructure development expense  25,073   -
Write down inventory to net realisable value 12  5,362   -
TOTAL EXPENSES  141,998   35,259

Net loss other than income from State Government  (55,474)  (16,012)

Income from State Government
Resources received free of charge 35 (a)  1   357 
Grants and contributions from other government agencies 35 (b)  6,608   6,473 
LOSS FOR THE PERIOD 25  (48,865)  (9,182)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Remeasurements of defined benefit liability 22  63   95 
Changes in asset revaluation reserve 25  (562)  522 
Total Other Comprehensive Income  (499)  617 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE PERIOD  (49,364)  (8,565)

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjuction with accompanying notes.

stAtement of compRehensive income 
foR the yeAR ended 30 June 2014

52



fi
na

nc
ia

l s
ta

te
m

en
ts

  2014 2013
 Notes $’ 000 $’ 000

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents 11 10,850   16,141 
Inventories 12 63,968  39,308 
Receivables 13 7,798  4,479 
Other Current Assets 14 690   257 
Total Current Assets   83,306   60,185

Non-Current Assets
Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents 11  9,825   6,236 
Inventories 12 305,944   287,101
Receivables 13  192   439 
Property, Furniture and Equipment 15 3,348   8,681 
Investment Properties 16 24,374   25,430
Intangible Assets 18 2,549   2,184
Total Non-Current Assets  346,232   330,071

TOTAL ASSETS  429,538   390,256 

stAtement of finAnciAl position 
As At 30 June 2014
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  2014 2013
 Notes $’ 000 $’ 000

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 20  14,347   13,818 
Borrowings 23  670   815 
Income in Advance 21  228   221
Provisions 22  1,585   1,696
Total Current Liabilities  16,830   16,550

Non-Current Liabilities
Payables 20  980   - 
Borrowings 23  214,830   178,373
Provisions 22  53,110   29,556 
Other Non-Current Liabilities 24  303   294
Total Non-Current Liabilities   269,223   208,223

TOTAL LIABILITIES  286,053   224,773

NET ASSETS   143,485   165,483  

Contributed Equity 25  219,082   191,716  
Asset Revaluation Reserve                                               25  -   562  
Accumulated Losses 25  (75,597)  (26,795) 
 TOTAL EQUITY   143,485   165,483 

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with accompanying notes.    

stAtement of finAnciAl position 
foR the yeAR ended 30 June 2014
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  2014 2013
 Notes $’ 000 $’ 000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
Receipts    
Interest received   879 50
Other operating items   76,659 7,707
Payments    
Payments to suppliers   (25,280) (20,787)
Payments to employees   (11,335) (10,235)
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities  26 40,923 (23,265)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    
Receipts    
Developer Contribution Fees (DCS)   5,330 3,731
Payments    
Payments for capital works   (118,978) (112,075)
Payment for building refurbishment - investment properties   (465) (37)
Payments for non-current physical assets   (2,092) (114)
Payments for intangible assets   (1,338) (2,368)
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities   (117,543) (110,863)

stAtement of cAsh flows 
foR the yeAR ended 30 June 2014
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  2014 2013
 Notes $’ 000 $’ 000

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
Receipts    
Proceeds from Borrowings   37,127 62,607
Payments    
Repayment of Borrowings   (815)  -   
Interest charges expensed   (1,748) (1,712)
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities    34,564  60,895

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT    
Capital Contribution   33,746 78,610
Grants and contributions from other government agencies   6,608 15,539
Net cash provided by/(used in) state government    40,354   94,149 
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   (1,702) 20,916
Opening cash balance   22,377 1,461
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF PERIOD  11 20,675 22,377

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with accompanying notes.   
   
   

stAtement of cAsh flows 
foR the yeAR ended 30 June 2014

56



fi
na

nc
ia

l s
ta

te
m

en
ts

   Asset  
  Contributed Revaluation  Retained Total 
  Equity Reserve Earnings Equity 
 Note  $’000   $’000   $’000   $’000  

Balance at 1 July 2012   108,677   40   (17,708)  91,009  
Surplus/(deficit) 25  -     -     (9,182)  (9,182) 
Other comprehensive income  25  -     522   95   617  
Total comprehensive income for the period   108,677   562   (26,795)  82,444  
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:      
Capital Contribution 25  78,610   -     -     78,610  
Other contributions by owners 25  9,588   -     -     9,588  
Distribution to owners 25  (5,159)  -     -     (5,159) 
Total   83,039   -     -     83,039  
Balance at 30 June 2013   191,716   562   (26,795)  165,483  

Balance at 1 July 2013   191,716   562   (26,795)  165,483  
Surplus/(deficit)   -     -     (48,865)  (48,865) 
Other comprehensive income    -     (562)  63   (499) 
Total comprehensive income for the period   191,716   -     (75,597)  116,119  
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:      
Capital Contribution 25  33,346   -     -     33,346  
Other contributions by owners 25  11,841   -     -     11,841  
Distribution to owners 25  (17,821)  -     -     (17,821) 
Total   27,366   -     -     27,366  
Balance at 30 June 2014 25  219,082   -     (75,597)  143,485  

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.     
 
      
      

stAtement of chAnges in equity 
foR the yeAR ended 30 June 2014
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notes to the finAnciAl stAtements 
foR the yeAR ended 30 June 2014

1.  Australian Accounting Standards
General 
The Authority’s financial statements for the year 
ended 30 june 2014 have been prepared in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards. The term 
‘Australian Accounting Standards’ includes Standards 
and Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (AASB).

The Authority has adopted any applicable new and 
revised Australian Accounting Standards from their 
operative dates. 

Early adoption of standards
The Authority cannot early adopt an Australian 
Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by 
TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards 
and Other Pronouncements.  There has been no early 
adoption of Australian Accounting Standards that 
have been issued or amended (but not operative) by 
the Authority for the annual reporting period ended 
30 June 2014.

2.1 Summary of significant  
accounting policies

(a) General statement
The Authority is a not-for-profit reporting entity that 
prepares general purpose financial statements in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, 
the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts 
and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB 
as applied by the Treasurer’s instructions.  Several of 
these are modified by the Treasurer’s instructions to 
vary application, disclosure, format and wording.

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s 
instructions impose legislative provisions that govern 
the preparation of financial statements and take 
precedence over Australian Accounting Standards, the 
Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and 
other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB.

Where modification is required and has had a material 
or significant financial effect upon the reported 
results, details of that modification and the resulting 
financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements.

(b) Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the 
accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost 
convention, except for land, buildings (including 
investment properties) and infrastructure which have 
been measured at fair value.

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation 
in the financial statements have been consistently 
applied throughout all periods presented unless 
otherwise stated.

The financial statements are presented in Australian 
dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest 
thousand dollars ($’000).

Note 2.3 ‘Significant estimates and judgements’ 
discloses judgements that have been made in the 
process of applying the Authority’s accounting policies 
resulting in the most significant effect on amounts 
recognized in the financial statements.

Note 2.3 ‘Significant estimates and judgements’ discloses 
key assumptions made concerning the future and other 
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the 
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing 

a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets 
and liabilities within the next financial year.

(c) Reporting entity
The reporting entity comprises the Authority. The 
Authority has no related bodies.

(d) Contributed equity
AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners 
made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities requires 
transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other 
than as a result of a restructure of administrative 
arrangements, to be designated by the Government 
(the owner) as contributions by owners (at the 
time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers 
can be recognised as equity contributions.  Capital 
appropriations have been designated as contributions 
by owners by TI 955 Contributions by Owners made to 
Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have been 
credited directly to Contributed Equity.

The transfer of net assets to/from other agencies, 
other than as a result of a restructure of administrative 
arrangements, are designated as contributions to or by 
owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and 
non-reciprocal.

(e) Income
Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value 
of consideration received or receivable. Revenue is 
recognised for the major business activities as follows:

Sale of land
It is the Authority’s practice to recognise the sale 
of land when the significant risks and returns have 
been transferred to the buyer, which is normally on 
settlement of the transaction and transfer of legal title.
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notes to the finAnciAl stAtements 
foR the yeAR ended 30 June 2014

For conditional exchanges, sales are recognised only 
when all the significant conditions are satisfied. If part 
of the purchase price has been deferred, the sale may 
be recognised before the purchase price is settled and 
notional interest recognised on the deferred payment.

The Authority may repurchase Elizabeth Quay Lot 7, 
if the Purchaser does not provide notice of the Final 
Investment Decision approval or if the Purchaser fails 
to enter into a construction contract and commence 
development within 36 months after the settlement date. 

Sale of goods (other than land)
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods when 
the significant risks and rewards of ownership transfer 
to the purchaser and can be measured reliably.

Provision of services
Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of 
completion of the transaction.

Service appropriations
Service appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair 
value in the period in which the Authority gains control 
of the appropriated funds, which is at the time those 
funds are deposited to the Authority’s bank account.

Rental income
Rental income arising on investment properties is 
accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term and is recognised as income in the periods in 
which it is earned.

Incentives representing rental free periods or reduced 
rentals are accounted for in accordance with the 
rental income policy whereby rental income from 
investment properties is accounted for on a straight 
line basis over the lease term. If not received at 

reporting date, revenue is reflected in the statement 
of financial position as a receivable and carried at fair 
value.

Contingent rental income is recognised as income in 
the periods in which it is earned.

Interest
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal 
contributions
Contributions are only recognised as revenue when 
they do not represent contributions by owners.

Revenue is recognised at fair value when the 
Authority obtains control over the assets comprising 
the contributions.

If the contributions are in the form of cash, control 
is usually obtained when cash is received. If the 
contributions are in the form of land or buildings, 
control is usually obtained when settlement of the 
acquisition occurs and title is transferred.

Contributions of services are only recognised when a 
fair value can be reliably determined and the services 
would be purchased if not donated.

(f) Developer Contribution Scheme
Developer Contribution Scheme (DCS) revenues are 
recognised when developers obtain clearance on 
title(s) for land held within the DCS area. Developer 
Contribution expenses representing costs incurred in 
realising the DCS revenues are also recognised at this 
point.

(g) Gains
Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised 
on a net basis. These include gains arising on the 
disposal of non -current assets and some revaluations 
of non-current assets.

(h) Cost of sales
The Authority recognises as inventory all of the costs 
which have been incurred in bringing developed land 
to a condition ready for sale. Such costs are typically 
accumulated on a project by project basis. The 
Authority allocates development costs to individual 
lots within the project on a rational and consistent 
basis given the specific circumstances of the project.

(i) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs for qualifying assets (inventories) 
are capitalised net of any investment income earned 
on the unexpended portion of the borrowings. A 
qualifying asset is an asset that necessarily takes a 
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended 
use or sale. Other borrowing costs are expensed 
when incurred. Where funding is not asset specific, 
the capitalisation rate used to determine the amount 
of borrowing costs to be capitalised is the weighted 
average interest rate applicable to the Authority’s 
outstanding borrowings during the year.

(j) Property, plant and equipment
Initial recognition and measurement
Property, plant and equipment is initially recognised 
at cost.

For items of property, plant and equipment acquired 
at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair 
value at the date of acquisition.
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notes to the finAnciAl stAtements 
foR the yeAR ended 30 June 2014

2.1 Summary of significant  
accounting policies (cont)
Capitalisation / expensing of assets
Items of property, plant and equipment costing 
$5,000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost 
of utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over their 
useful lives. Items of property, plant and equipment 
costing less than $5,000 are expensed directly to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than 
where they form part of a group of similar items which 
are significant in total).

Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, 
the Authority uses the revaluation Model for the 
measurement of land and buildings and historical 
cost for all other property, plant and equipment. 
Land and buildings are carried at fair value less 
accumulated depreciation (buildings only) and 
accumulated impairment losses. All other items of 
property, plant and equipment are stated at historical 
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses.

Where market based evidence is available, the fair 
value of land and buildings is determined on the 
basis of current market buying values determined 
by reference to recent market transactions. When 
buildings are revalued by reference to recent market 
transactions, the accumulated depreciation is 
eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the 
asset and the net amount restated to the revalued 
amount. 

In the absence of market based evidence, the fair 
value of land and buildings is determined on the basis 
of existing use. This normally applies where buildings 

are specialised or where land use is restricted. 
Fair value for existing use assets is determined by 
reference to the cost of replacing the remaining 
future economic benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. 
the depreciated replacement cost. Where the fair 
value of buildings is determined on the depreciated 
replacement cost basis, the gross carrying amount 
and the accumulated depreciation are restated 
proportionately.

Depreciation
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are 
systematically depreciated over their estimated useful 
lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of 
their future economic benefits.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line 
method, using rates which are reviewed annually. 
Estimated useful lives for each class of depreciable 
asset are:

Buildings  40 years
Plant and equipment  5-10 years
Computer Equipment  3-9.5 years
Infrastructure  22-100 years
Land is not depreciated.

Derecognition and disposal
An item of property, plant and equipment is 
derecognised upon disposal or when no future 
economic benefits are expected from its use or 
disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of 
the asset (calculated as the difference between the 
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
asset) is included in the statement of comprehensive 
income when the asset is derecognised.

Asset revaluation surplus
The asset revaluation surplus is used to record 
increments and decrements on the revaluation of 
non-current assets.  Upon disposal or de-recognition 
of an item of property, plant and equipment and 
infrastructure, any revaluation surplus relating to that 
asset is retained in the asset revaluation surplus.

(k) Impairment of assets
Property, plant and equipment, infrastructure and 
intangible assets are tested for any indication of 
impairment at the end of each reporting period. Where 
there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable 
amount is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is 
less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered 
impaired and is written down to the recoverable 
amount and an impairment loss is recognised. As the 
Authority is a not-for-profit entity, unless an asset 
has been identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs 
to sell and depreciated replacement cost.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to 
circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is 
materially understated, where the replacement cost 
is falling or where there is a significant change in 
useful life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed 
annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation 
/ amortisation reflects the level of consumption or 
expiration of asset’s future economic benefits and to 
evaluate any impairment risk from falling  
replacement costs.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and 
intangible assets not yet available for use are tested 
for impairment at the end of each reporting period 
irrespective of whether there is any indication of 
impairment.
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notes to the finAnciAl stAtements 
foR the yeAR ended 30 June 2014

The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus 
assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and 
the present value of future cash flows expected to be 
derived from the asset. Surplus assets carried at fair 
value have no risk of material impairment where fair 
value is determined by reference to market-based 
evidence. Where fair value is determined by reference to 
depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk 
of impairment and the recoverable amount is measured. 
Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications of 
impairment at the end of each reporting period.

(l) Intangible assets
Initial recognition and measurement
All acquired intangible assets are initially recognised 
at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal 
cost, cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition. 

Computer Software
Software that is an integral part of the related 
hardware is treated as property, plant and equipment. 
Software that is not an integral part of the related 
hardware is treated as an intangible asset. Software 
costing less than $5,000 is expensed in the year of 
acquisition.

Web site costs
Web site costs are charged as expenses when they 
are incurred unless they relate to the acquisition 
or development of an asset when they may be 
capitalised and amortised. Generally, costs in relation 
to feasibility studies during the planning phase of a 
web site, and ongoing costs of maintenance during 
the operating phase are expensed. Costs incurred in 
building or enhancing a web site, to the extent that 
they represent probable future economic benefits that 
can be reliably measured, are capitalised.

Capitalisation / expensing
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or 
more are capitalised. The cost of utilising the assets 
is expensed (amortised) over their useful life. Costs 
incurred below these thresholds are immediately 
expensed directly to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income.

Subsequent measurement
The cost model is applied for subsequent 
measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost 
less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses.

Amortisation
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful 
lives is calculated for the period of the expected 
benefit (estimated useful life) on the straight line basis 
using rates which are reviewed annually. All intangible 
assets controlled by the Authority have a finite useful 
life and zero residual value.

The expected useful lives for each class of intangible 
asset are:

Software (a)  3 Years
Website  3 Years
(a) Software that is not integral to the operation of any 
related hardware.

Impairment
The carrying value of intangible assets is reviewed for 
impairment annually when the asset is not yet in use, 
or more frequently when an indicator of impairment 
arises during the reporting year indicating that the 
carrying value may not be recoverable.

(m) Investment property
Investment property, principally comprising freehold 
land and buildings, is not occupied by the Authority 
and derives long-term rental yields. Investment 
property is carried at fair value, as mandated by TI 
954, representing open-market value determined 
annually by external valuers. Changes in fair value are 
recorded in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(n) Leases
As lessee
Operating leases are leases that do not transfer to 
the Authority substantially all the risks and benefits 
incidental to ownership of the leased item.

The Authority holds operating leases for office 
premises, motor vehicles and some equipment.

Operating leases are expensed on a straight line basis 
over the lease term as this represents the pattern of 
benefits derived from the leased assets.

As lessor
Leases in which the Authority transfers substantially 
all the risks and benefits of ownership of an asset are 
classified as finance leases. 

The Authority recognises assets held under a finance 
lease in its statement of financial position as a 
receivable at an amount equal to the net investment 
in the lease, and subsequently recognises finance 
income based on a pattern reflecting a constant 
periodic rate of return on that net investment.

Leases in which the Authority does not transfer 
substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of 
an asset are classified as operating leases.
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notes to the finAnciAl stAtements 
foR the yeAR ended 30 June 2014

2.1 Summary of significant  
accounting policies (cont)

From time to time the Authority may offer 
inducements to tenants to enter into non-cancellable 
operating leases.  These incentives may include 
contributions to fit-out and relocation costs, rental 
free periods or direct cash payments.  These incentives 
are recognised as part of the cost of investment 
properties and amortised over the period of the lease.

In the event the lease is terminated by mutual 
agreement prior to its conclusion and the costs of 
incentives are recovered, they are applied in reduction 
of the investment property cost.

(o) Financial instruments
In addition to cash and bank overdrafts the Authority 
has three categories of financial instrument:

- Loans and receivables
-  Held to maturity investments (includes short  

term deposits)
-  Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Financial instruments have been disaggregated into 
the following classes:

Financial assets: 

-  Cash and cash equivalents
-  Receivables 
-  Restricted cash and cash equivalents
-  Leased asset receivable

Financial liabilities:

-  Payables
-  Western Australian Treasury Corporation 

borrowings
-  Other borrowings
Initial recognition and measurement of financial 
instruments is at fair value which normally equates 
to the transaction cost or face value. Subsequent 
measurement is at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. The fair value of short-term 
receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the 
face value because there is no interest rate applicable 
and subsequent measurement is not required as the 
effect of discounting is not material.

(p) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash 
and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash 
equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand and short-
term deposits with original maturities of three months 
or less that are readily convertible to a known amount 
of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of 
changes in value, and bank overdrafts.

(q) Receivables
Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount 
less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts 
(i.e. impairment). The collectability of receivables 
is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables 
identified as uncollectible are written off against the 
allowance account. The allowance for uncollectible 
amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is 
objective evidence that the Authority will not be able 
to collect the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent 
to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days.

(r) Inventories
All land and buildings and capital works held for 
development and subsequent sale are regarded as 
inventory and are classified as such in the statement 
of financial position.

Development expenditure is capitalised with 
reference to the stage of completion of the project.

The Authority recognises as inventory all of the costs 
which have been incurred in bringing developed land 
to a condition ready for sale. Such costs are typically 
accumulated on a project by project basis. The 
Authority allocates development costs to individual 
lots within the project on a rational and consistent 
basis given the specific circumstances of the project.

Land held for development and subsequent sale 
is classified as a current asset when development 
is completed and sales are expected to result in 
realisation of settled sales within twelve months based 
on management’s sales forecasts.

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value (based on undiscounted cash flows).

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in 
the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs 
of completion and, if appropriate, the estimated costs 
of making the sale.

Cost includes the costs of acquisition development, 
holding and borrowing costs incurred during 
development.  When development is completed, 
holding and borrowing charges are expensed as 
incurred.  Holding and borrowing costs are also 
expensed if active development is interrupted for 
extended periods.
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Acquisition costs typically include legal and 
professional fees, and valuation fees.

Development costs typically include the costs of 
planning, community consultation, surveying, 
quantity surveying, engineering and project 
management including where applicable, remediation 
cost for contamination.  Development costs also 
include an allocation of internal employee benefit 
costs directly associated with bringing the land under 
development to saleable condition.

Holding costs include rates and taxes, service charges 
including insurance premiums, security fees and 
repairs and maintenance.  Rental income received 
from tenants while land is under development is 
treated as a reduction in holding costs.

Borrowing costs are costs such as interest, line fees 
and legal expenses that would have been avoided if 
the expenditure on the acquisition and development 
of the land had not been made.

(s) Inventories held for distribution
Inventories ‘held for distribution’ are measured at 
cost, adjusted when applicable for any loss of service 
potential. See also note 12 Inventories.

(t) Payables
Payables are recognised at the amounts payable 
when the Authority becomes obliged to make future 
payments as a result of a purchase of assets or 
services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair 
value, as they are generally settled within 30 days.

(u) Accrued salaries
Accrued salaries represent the amount due to staff but 
unpaid at the end of the financial period ,as the pay 

date for the last pay period for that financial period 
does not coincide with the end of the financial period. 
Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the 
financial period end. The Authority considers the 
carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent 
to its fair value.

(v) Provisions
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount 
and are recognised where there is a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of a past event and 
when the outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are 
reviewed at the end of each reporting period.

Employee benefits – annual and long service leave
All annual leave and long service leave provisions are 
in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the 
reporting period.

Annual Leave
Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly 
within 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period and is therefore considered to be ‘other long 
term employee benefits’.  The annual leave liability 
is recognised and measured at the present value of 
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are 
settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply 
at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration 
is given to expected future wage and salary levels 
including non-salary components such as employer 
superannuation contributions, as well as the experience 
of employee departures and periods of service. The 
expected future payments are discounted using market 

yields at the end of the reporting period on national 
government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as 
closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

The provision for annual leave is classified as a 
current liability as the Authority does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability 
for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period.

Long Service Leave
Long service leave is not expected to be settled wholly 
within 12 months after the end of the reporting period 
and is therefore recognised and measured at the 
present value of amounts expected to be paid when 
the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate 
expected to apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration 
is given to expected future wage and salary levels 
including non-salary components such as employer 
superannuation contributions, as well as the experience 
of employee departures and periods of service. The 
expected future payments are discounted using market 
yields at the end of the reporting period on national 
government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as 
closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Unconditional long service leave provisions are 
classified as current liabilities as the Authority does 
not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of 
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period. Pre-conditional and conditional long 
service leave provisions are classified as non-current 
liabilities because the Authority has an unconditional 
right to defer the settlement of the liability until 
the employee has completed the requisite years of 
service.
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2.1 Summary of significant  
accounting policies (cont)

Employee benefits – sick leave
Liabilities for sick leave are recognised when it is 
probable that sick leave paid in the future will be 
greater than the entitlement that will accrue in the 
future.

Past history indicates that on average, sick leave taken 
each reporting period is less than the entitlement 
accrued.  This is expected to continue in future 
periods.  Accordingly, it is unlikely that existing 
accumulated entitlements will be used by employees 
and no liability for unused sick leave entitlements is 
recognised.  As sick leave is non-vesting, an expense 
is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income for this leave as it is taken.

Employee benefits - superannuation
The Government Employees Superannuation 
Board (GESB) and other fund providers administer 
public sector superannuation arrangements in 
Western Australia in accordance with legislative 
requirements.  Eligibility criteria for membership in 
particular schemes for public sector employees vary 
according to commencement and implementation 
dates.

Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, 
a defined benefit pension scheme closed to new 
members since 1987, or the Gold State Superannuation 
Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme 
closed to new members since 1995.

Employees commencing employment prior to 
16 April 2007 who were not members of either the 
Pension Scheme or the GSS became noncontributory 

members of the West State Superannuation 
Scheme (WSS).  Employees commencing employment 
on or after 16 April 2007 became members of the GESB 
Super Scheme (GESBS).  From 30 March 2012, existing 
members of the WSS or GESBS and new employees have 
been able to choose their preferred superannuation 
fund provider.  The Authority makes contributions to 
GESB or other fund providers on behalf of employees 
in compliance with the Commonwealth Government’s 
Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992.  
Contributions to these accumulation schemes extinguish 
the Authority’s liability for superannuation charges 
in respect of employees who are not members of the 
Pension Scheme or GSS.

The Pension Scheme and the pre-transfer benefit for 
employees who transferred to the GSS are defined 
benefit schemes.  These benefits are wholly unfunded 
and the liabilities for future payments are provided at 
the end of the reporting period.  The liabilities under 
these schemes have been calculated separately for 
each scheme annually by Pricewaterhouse Coopers 
LLP Actuaries using the projected unit credit method.

The expected future payments are discounted to 
present value using market yields at the end of the 
reporting period on national government bonds with 
terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, 
the estimated future cash outflows.

The GSS, the WSS, and the GESBS, where the current 
service superannuation charge is paid by the Authority 
to the GESB, are defined contribution schemes.  
The liabilities for current service superannuation 
charges under the GSS, the WSS, and the GESBS are 
extinguished by the concurrent payment of employer 
contributions to the GESB.

The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes 
of employees and whole-of-government reporting.  
However, from an agency perspective, apart from 
the transfer benefits, it is a defined contribution plan 
under AASB 119.

Employment on-costs
Employment on-costs, including workers’ 
compensation insurance, are not employee benefits 
and are recognised separately as liabilities and 
expenses when the employment to which they relate 
has occurred.  Employment on-costs are included as 
part of ‘Other expenses’ and are not included as part 
of the Authority’s ‘Employee benefits expense’.  The 
related liability is included in ‘Employment on-costs 
provision’.

Deferred works
A provision for deferred works is recognised when 
a contract of sale provides for specific capital works 
to be undertaken on the land subsequent to the 
sale of the land and the sale has met the criteria for 
recognition.

Contaminated sites
Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003 , the 
Authority is required to report known and suspected 
contaminated sites to the Department of Environment 
and Conservation (DEC). In accordance with the Act, 
DEC classifies these sites on the basis of the risk to 
human health, the environment and environmental 
values. Where sites are classified as contaminated 
- remediation required or possibly contaminated 
- investigation required, the Authority may have a 
liability in respect of investigation or remediation 
expenses.
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Future development obligations
Where the Authority has provided an undertaking 
to carry out development projects in lieu of 
arrangements with external parties for contributions 
paid or for the sale of development rights of land 
under its control, a provision has been raised to 
recognise the Authority’s future development 
obligations in respect of contributions paid and/or 
land sold.

Parking contributions
A provision for parking contributions is recognised 
when a developer becomes obligated to pay a parking 
contribution to the Authority as a result of not 
fulfilling minimum parking requirements in their 
particular development plans.  These contributions 
are held by the Authority to be applied for the 
provision of public parking, cycling, pedestrian 
facilities or public transport within the redevelopment 
area.

(w) Employee benefits expense
Employee benefits expense comprises all benefits paid 
to direct employees of the Authority.

It includes:

•	 Base	salary;
•		Fringe	benefits;
•		Personal	leave;
•		Holiday	pay;
•		Long	service	leave;
•		Bonuses;	and
•		Superannuation.

Employee benefits expense does not include the 
on-costs of providing employment which do not 
constitute a benefit to employees including:

•		Payroll	tax;	and	
•		Worker	Compensation	Insurance.

(x) Resources received free of charge or for  
nominal cost

Resources received free of charge or for nominal 
cost that can be reliably measured are recognised as 
income at fair value. Where the resource received 
represents a service that the Authority would 
otherwise pay for, a corresponding expense is 
recognised. Receipts of assets are recognised in the 
Statement of Financial Position.

(y) Distribution or disposal of assets at no or nominal 
cost

Occasionally the Authority may be required to 
transfer inventories (developed land and/or buildings) 
to a third party, potentially another organisation 
established by the State Government, at no or nominal 
consideration.  In those circumstances, the carrying 
amount of those inventories shall be recognised as a 
reduction to contributed equity when the inventories 
are distributed.

(z) Dividends
In accordance with the Metropolitan Redevelopment 
Authority Act 2011, the Treasurer may direct the 
payment of any surplus, in part or whole, at the 
end of any financial year, to the Consolidated Fund. 
The amount of the surplus/dividend payment is 
determined by the Treasurer in conjunction with the 
Authority.

(aa) Goods and services tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of 
the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except:

(i)  where the amount of GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the taxation authority, it is 
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of an 
asset or as part of an item of expense; or

(ii)  for receivables and payables which are recognised 
inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable 
to, the taxation authority is included as part of 
receivables or payables.

The GST component of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities which is recoverable 
from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified 
as operating cash flows.

(ab) Comparative figures
Comparison figures are, where appropriate, 
reclassified to be comparable with the figures 
presented in the current financial year.

2.2 Disclosure of changes in accounting 
policies and estimates

Voluntary changes in accounting policy
There has been no voluntary change in accounting 
policies.
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2.3 Significant estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements requires 
management to make judgements about the 
application of accounting policies that have a 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements. The Authority evaluates these 
judgements regularly.

Operating lease commitments 
The Authority has entered into commercial leases 
and has determined that the lessors retain all the 
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the 
property. Accordingly, these leases have been 
classified as operating leases.

Fair value of land and buildings
Land and buildings are independently valued 
annually by Colliers International Licensed Real 
Estate and Business Agents and recognised with 
sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying 
amount does not differ materially from the asset’s 
fair value at the end of the reporting period. The 
most significant assumptions in estimating fair value 
are made in assessing whether to apply the existing 
use basis to assets and in determining estimated 
useful life and also determining the highest and 
best use. Professional judgement by the valuer is 
required where the evidence does not provide a clear 
distinction between market type assets and existing 
use assets.

Public infrastructure and planning expenses
Capital expenditure undertaken by the Authority 
on land owned by the Crown or State as part of the 
Authority’s mandate has been expensed based on the 
best information currently available regarding the 
transfer of future ownership at nil or nominal cost. 

Recovery of inventory and investment property
Estimated recovery of inventory and investment 
properties is based on market information as at 
balance date. Events and circumstances could change 
in the future resulting in the recoverable amount 
being less than the cost.

Fair value of borrowings
The Authority recognises its borrowings amount as per 
the accounting policy, initially at the fair value before 
measuring the liability at amortised cost. 

Long service leave provisions
Estimations and assumptions used in calculating 
the Authority’s long service leave provision include 
expected future salary rates, discount rates, employee 
retention rates and expected future payments. Changes 
in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the 
carrying amount of the long service leave provision.

Provision for contaminated sites
In determining the Authority’s liability for remediating 
contaminated sites, assumptions regarding the level 
of remediation work are made. Assumptions include 
soil volume based on methodical sample testing, 
method of soil remediation engineering estimates and 
the provision of professional consultants. Once the 
sites are fully assessed using environmental testing 
the level of remediation work required may change 
requiring the liability to be adjusted.

Provision for deferred works
In determining the Authority’s liability for deferred 
works, the provisions of the contract of sale for each 
site is consulted to determine assumptions regarding 
the level of work required. Once the sites are fully 
assessed the level of work required and the probable 
building design may change requiring the liability to 
be adjusted. 

Provision for annual leave and long service leave
All annual leave and long service leave provisions are 
in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the 
reporting period.

Provision for parking contributions
In determining the Authority’s liability for parking, a 
range of possible parking outcomes are determined 
and the cost of the preferred outcome is estimated, 
this cost is compared to the parking contributions 
received from developers to determine if there is 
any significant difference. As further contributions 
are received and decisions are made as to the 
parking outcomes to pursue the liability will require 
adjustment.
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3.  Disclosure of Changes in Accounting Policy
(a) Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard

operative  for reporting 
periods beginning on/ after

AASB 2012-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities [AASB 132]

This Standard adds application guidance to AASB 132 to address inconsistencies identified in applying some of the 
offsetting criteria, including clarifying the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off” and that 
some gross settlement systems may be considered equivalent to net settlement. 

The Model Statutory Authority does not routinely hold financial assets and financial liabilities that it intends to settle 
on a net basis, therefore there is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 2013-3 Amendments to AASB 136 – Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets.

This Standard introduces editorial and disclosure changes. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Conceptual Framework, Materiality and Financial Instruments.

This omnibus Standard makes amendments to other Standards arising from the deletion of references to AASB 1031 
in other Standards for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014 (Part B), and, defers the application of AASB 9 to 
1 January 2017 (Part C).  The application date of AASB 9 was subsequently deferred to 1 January 2018 by AASB 2014 
1.  The Authority has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of AASB 9, otherwise there is no 
financial impact for Part B.

1 Jan 2014        

The Authority has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2013 that impacted  
on the Authority.
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(b) Future Impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative

The Authority cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other 
Pronouncements.  Consequently, the Authority has not applied early any of the following Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued that may impact the 
Authority.  Where applicable, the Authority plans to apply these Australian Accounting Standards from their application date. 

operative  for reporting 
periods beginning on/ after

AASB 9 Financial Instruments

This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, introducing a number of 
changes to accounting treatments.

The mandatory application date of this Standard was amended to 1 January 2018 by AASB 2014 1.  The Authority has 
not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 121, 
127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 10 & 12]

[modified by AASB 2010-7]

1 Jan 2015

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 
108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]

This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as 
a result of issuing AASB 9 in December 2010.  The Authority has not yet determined the application or the potential 
impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2015

1 Jan 2017
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  2014 2013
  $’ 000 $’ 000

4. Trading Profit         
Sales   76,122   6,400   
Cost of goods sold:
Opening inventory   326,409   222,915   
Purchases   158,370   108,571 
Goods available for sale   484,779   331,486 
Closing inventory   369,912   326,409 
Cost of goods sold   (73,061)  (5,077)
Trading profit   3,061   1,323 

See note 2(r) ‘Inventories’ and note 12 ‘Inventories’

5. Interest Income         
Interest    879   50 
   879   50 

Interest income includes interest earned on cash and cash equivalents held at the bank, and at call short term deposit accounts.    

6. Other Income         
Revaluation Increment  (a)   -     712    
Other income    2,131   1,985   
    2,131   2,697 

(a) Revaluation increment for investment properties. (2014: $0, 2013: $712,000). Refer to Note 10 & 16.
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  2014 2013
  $’ 000 $’ 000

7. Employee Benefits         
Wages and salaries (a)   10,412   9,295  
Superannuation - defined contribution plans (b)   1,057   818  
Superannuation – defined benefit plans (see note 22)  (71) (85)
   11,398   10,028 

(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax component, leave entitlements including superannuation contribution 
component. Increase due to increase in number of staff, increase in discount rate and increase in rates applied to calculate on-costs.

(b) Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State and GESB Super Scheme.  
Employment on-costs expenses, such as worker’s compensation insurance, are included in Note 10 ‘Other Expenses’.
Employment on-costs liability is included at Note 22 ‘Provisions’.    

8. Supplies and Services       
Consultants and contractors   4,106   2,780  
Building occupancy   619   648 
General office expenses   183   383  
Insurance premiums   693   776  
Other supplies and services   398   729 
   5,999   5,316
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  2014 2013 
  $’ 000 $’ 000

9. Depreciation and Amortisation          
Depreciation   
Buildings   82   93 
Plant, equipment and improvements   19   29 
Office furniture and equipment   40   58 
Computer equipment    157   164 
Total depreciation   298   344 

Amortisation
Intangible assets   973   301 
Total amortisation   973   301 

Total depreciation and amortisation   1,271   645 

10. Other Expenses         
Payroll tax   646   520
Doubtful Debts  (6)  181
Bad Debts  18  -
Loss on Disposal of Asset   -   27
Asset Revaluation Decrement   55   -
Revaluation Decrement  (a)   973   -

    1,686   728

(a) Revaluation decrement for investment properties. (2014: $973,000, 2013: $0). Refer to Note 10 & 16. 
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  2014 2013
  $’ 000 $’ 000

11. Cash and Cash Equivalents  
Operating account   10,850   16,141
Restricted cash and cash equivalents                               9,825   6,236   
   20,675   22,377

The Authority’s operating account is a non interest bearing bank account and the restricted parking funds held with Western Australian Treasury Corporation (WATC) are 
bearing floating interest rates between 2.45% and 2.70% (2013: 3.04% and 3.64%). 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents predominately represents funds held for Developer Contribution Schemes (DCS).  

12. Inventories         
The aggregate carrying amount of inventories recognised and included in the financial statements is as follows:
Current   63,968   39,308
Non-current   305,944   287,101
   369,912   326,409
Current  
Developed Land (at cost)   63,968   39,308
   63,968   39,308

The following represents the transfers to and from developed land inventories:
Developed Land ( at cost)
Balance at start of period   39,308  43,430
Transferred (to) / from undeveloped land  29,780  (779) 
Transferred (to) / from capital works in progress  40,074  -
Transfer from Investment Properties  4,710  1,734 
Provision for future works  23,785  - 
Write down inventory to net realisable value  (628) - 
Transferred to cost of sales  (73,061) (5,077)
Balance at period end    63,968   39,308
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  2014 2013
  $’ 000 $’ 000

12. Inventories (continued)
Non- Current
Capital Works (at cost)   280,397   234,614
Undeveloped Land (at cost)   25,547   52,487
    305,944   287,101

The following represents capital works undertaken, offset by components transferred to developed land inventories.
Capital works
Balance at start of period  234,614  129,297
Additional works  138,910  110,834
Transfer in from WA Planning Commission  -  208
Transfer to Property, Plant & Equipment  -  (546)
Transfer to Public Transport Authority  (4,470) (5,159)
Transfer to Water Corporation  (13,351) -
Transfer (to) / from developed land  (40,074) -
Developer Contribution Recoveries  (5,425) -
Allocation to contaminated sites  -  (20)
Transfer to infrastructure development expense  (25,073) -
Write down inventory to net realisable value  (4,734) -
Balance at period end  280,397  234,614
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  2014 2013
  $’ 000 $’ 000

12. Inventories (continued)
The following represents acquisitions of undeveloped land, offset by transfers to developed land inventories: 
Undeveloped land (at cost)
Balance at start of period   52,487   50,188
Transfer in from WA Planning Commission  -   260
Transfer in from Main Roads WA   492  -
Transfers (to) / from from developed land  (29,780) 779
Transfer (to) / from Land & Buildings  2,348 -
Land addition  -  1,260
Balance at period end    25,547   52,487

Inventories are recorded at the lower of cost and net realisable value. valuations of Developed Land, Capital Works in Progress and Undeveloped Land as at 30 June 2014 
showed inventories were held at the lower of cost and net realisable value.The valuations have been determined taking into account advice from Landgate and external 
property advisors about the fair value of inventories.
See note 2 (r) ‘Inventories’ and note 4 ‘Trading Profit’

13. Receivables
Current
Trade receivables   2,966   2,960
Provision for impairment of receivables   (7)  (188)
GST Receivable    3,454   913
   6,413   3,685
Leased asset   247   234
Other receivables    1,138   560
   7,798   4,479
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  2014 2013
  $’ 000 $’ 000

13. Receivables (continued)
Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of receivables:
Balance at start of period   (188)  (7)
Doubtful Debts expense recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income   (7)  (181)
Amounts recovered during the period   175  - 
Amounts written off during the period    13  - 
Balance at end of period   (7)  (188)
The Authority does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to receivables. 
Non Current
Leased asset   192   439
Total receivables   7,990   4,918

Refer to note 2(q) and note 31 ‘Financial Instruments’.

14. Other current assets         
Prepayments   690   257
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  2014 2013
  $’ 000 $’ 000

15. Property, furniture and equipment         
Land
At fair value (a)   650   3,410
    650   3,410
Buildings
At fair value (a)   45   3,969 
Accumulated depreciation   (3) -
   42   3,969
Plant and equipment
At cost   828   617
Accumulated depreciation   (536)  (496)
    292   121
Computer equipment
At cost   1,855   1,686
Accumulated depreciation   (699)  (542)
   1,156   1,144
Leasehold improvements
At cost   1,529   339
Accumulated depreciation   (321)  (302)
    1,208   37 
Total Property, Plant and Equipment   3,348   8,681

(a) Land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2013 by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (valuation Services).  The valuations were performed during 
the year ended 30 June 2014 and recognised at 30 June 2014.  In undertaking the revaluation, fair value was determined by reference to market values for land: $650,000 
(2013: $3,410,000) and buildings: $75,000 (2013: $3,969,000).  For the remaining balance, fair value of buildings was determined on the basis of depreciated replacement 
costs and fair value of land was determined on the basis of comparison with market evidence for land with low level utility (high restricted use land).   
Information on fair value measurements is provided in Note 17.      
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15. Property, furniture and equipment (continued)
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, furniture and equipment at the beginning and end of the reporting period are set out below.
2014   Plant and  
    equipment 
    and  
    Leasehold Computer 
  Land Buildings Improvements equipment Other (b) Total   
  $’ 000 $’ 000 $’ 000 $’ 000 $’ 000 $’ 000

Carrying amount at start of period  3,410   3,969   158   1,144   -     8,681
Adjustment to opening balances from prior period  725   (725)  -     -     -     -
Additions  -     597   1,326   169   -     2,092
Depreciation  -     (82)  (59)  (157)  -     (298)
Write offs  -     -     -     -     -     -
Equity distribution to owners  -     -     -     -     -     -
Transfer to Inventory  (1,110)  (1,238) - - -  (2,348)
Transfer to Investment Properties  (2,300)  (1,862) - - -  (4,162)
Revaluation Increment (decrement)  (75)  (542)  -     -     -     (617)
Carrying amount at end of period  650   117   1,425   1,156   -     3,348

(b) The category “Other” includes items of infrastructure associated with the Authority’s ongoing operations.      
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15. Property, furniture and equipment (continued)
2013    Plant and  
    equipment 
    and  
    Leasehold Computer 
  Land Buildings Improvements equipment Other (b) Total   
  $’ 000 $’ 000 $’ 000 $’ 000 $’ 000 $’ 000

Carrying amount at start of period  3,410   2,920   184   1,268   88   7,870 
Adjustment to opening balances from prior period  -     -     88   -     (88)  -
Additions  -     620   -     40   -     660
Depreciation  -     (93)  (89)  (164)  -     (346)
Write offs  -     -     (25)  -     -     (25)
Equity distribution to owners  -     -     -     -     -     -
Depreciation eliminated against reserves  -     522   -     -     -     522
Carrying amount at end of period  3,410   3,969   158   1,144   -     8,681

(b) The category “Other” includes items of infrastructure associated with the Authority’s ongoing operations.    
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  2014 2013
  $’ 000 $’ 000

16. Investment properties 
At Fair value
Opening balance    25,430   26,415
Capitalised expenditure   465   37
Classified as held for sale or disposals   (4,710)  (1,734)
Transferred from PPE   4,162   -
Net gain (loss) from fair value adjustment (a)   (973)  712
Closing balance at end of period   24,374   25,430

Amounts recognised in Statement of Comprehensive Income for investment properties
Revaluation Increment (decrement) reflected in Statement of Comprehensive Income   (973)  712
Rental income   997   905
Direct operating expenses from property that generated rental income   34   55
(a)  Land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2013 by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (valuation Services).  The valuations were performed 

during the year ended 30 June 2014 and recognised at 30 June 2014.  In undertaking the revaluation, fair value was determined by reference to market values for 
land: $14,304,000 (2013: $15,990,000) and buildings: $10,070,000 (2013: $9,440,000).  For the remaining balance, fair value of buildings was determined on the 
basis of depreciated replacement costs and fair value of land was determined on the basis of comparison with market evidence for land with low level utility (high 
restricted use land). 
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17. Fair Value Measurements
Property, furniture and equipment are measured at fair value
      Fair Value  
   Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 at end Period 
   $’ 000 $’ 000 $’ 000 $’ 000

Property, furniture and equipment
2014
Land (Note 15)   -     650   -     650
Buildings (Note 15)   -     45   -     45
   -     695   -     695
2013 
Land (Note 15)   -     3,410   -     3,410
Buildings (Note 15)   -     3,969   -     3,969
   -     7,379   -     7,379
Investment properties    
2014
Land (Note 16)   -     14,304   -     14,304
Buildings (Note 16)   -     10,070   -     10,070
    -     24,374   -     24,374
2013
Land (Note 16)   -     15,990   -     15,990
Buildings (Note 16)   -     9,440   -     9,440
    -     25,430   -     25,430
There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 or 3 during the period.  
Valuation techniques to derive fair values 
Level 1 fair values are derived using the market approach.  Market evidence is based on quoted prices in an active market. 
Level 2 fair values of Non-current assets held for sale, Land and Buildings are derived using the market approach.  Market evidence of sales prices of comparable land and 
buildings (office accommodation) in close proximity is used to determine price per square metre. 
In the absense of market-based evidence, due to the specialised nature of some non-financial assets, these assets are valued at Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy on an 
existing use basis.        
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  2014 2013
  $’ 000 $’ 000

18. Intangible assets         
Software at cost   5,175   3,837
Accumulated amortisation   (2,626)  (1,653)
    2,549   2,184
Reconciliation:
Carrying amount at start of period   2,184   116
Additions   1,338   2,367
Amortisation expense   (973)  (299)
Carrying amount at end of period   2,549   2,184

19. Impairment of assets
There were no indications of impairment to property, furniture & equipment and intangible assets as at 30 June 2014. 
The Authority held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period. 
At the end of the reporting period there were no intangible assets not yet available for use. 
All surplus assets at 30 June 2014 have either been classified as assets held for sale or written off.

20. Payables         
Current
Trade payables   2,273   6,729
Accrued salaries   344   244
Accrued expenses   11,197   5,580
Other Payables   533   1,265
Total current   14,347   13,818

Non-current     
Payables - lease incentive liability   980   - 
Total non-current   980   -

See also note 2(t) ‘Payables’ and note 31 ‘Financial Instruments’.     
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  2014 2013
  $’ 000 $’ 000

21. Income in Advance         
Rental Income    26   20
Finance lease asset income   202   202
Others   -     (1)
    228   221

22. Provisions          
Current
Employee benefits provision:
Annual leave (a)   862   784
Long service leave (b)   453   582 
Superannuation   122   121
   1,437   1,487
Other provisions 
Employment on-costs (c)   86   89
Future Monitoring   62   120
    148   209
    1,585   1,695

Non- Current
Employee benefits provision:
Long service leave (b)   437   526
Superannuation   47   54
Defined benefit superannuation plans (d)   1,620   1,691
    2,104   2,271
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  2014 2013
  $’ 000 $’ 000

22. Provisions (continued)
Other provisions
Employment on-costs (c)   29   34 
Future Works   23,785   - 
Future Monitoring   740   760
Contaminated Sites (e )   25,826   25,880
Parking Contributions   626   611
    51,006   27,285
   53,110   29,556 

(a)  Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting period.  
Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities and employment on-costs will occur as follows: 

Within 12 months of reporting period   670   615
More than 12 months after reporting period   249   220
    919   835

(b)  Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after reporting period.  
Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities and employment on-costs will occur as follows:

Within 12 months of reporting period   90   167
More than 12 months after reporting period   859   1,012
    949   1,179

(c)  The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs including workers’ compensation insurance.  The 
provision is the present value of expected future payments.  The associated expense, apart from the unwinding of the discount (finance cost), is included in note 10 
‘Other Expenses’.
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22. Provisions (continued)
(d)  Defined benefit superannuation plans
The Authority has no legal liability to make up the liability other than by continuing to comply with the employer funding arrangements as detailed below.
  Pension Scheme Pension Scheme 
  2014 2013
  $’ 000 $’ 000

Reconciliation of the unfunded liability recognised in the Statement of Financial position is as follows:
Liability at start of period   1,691   1,776
Included in profit or loss:
Interest costs (unwinding of the discount)   56   50
Included in Other Comprehensive Income:
Net actuarial losses/(gains) recognised   (63)  (95)
Benefits Paid   (64)  (40)
Liability at the end of period   1,620   1,691

Reconciliation of the fair value of plan assets is as follows:
Fair value of plan assets at start of period   -     - 
Employer contributions   64   40
Benefits paid   (64)  (40)
Fair value of plan assets at end of period   -     -  

The principal actuarial assumptions used (expressed as weighted averages) were as follows:
Discount rate  3.69% 3.38%
Future salary increases  5.00% 5.00%

(e)  Contaminated Sites are classified as non-current as the work is scheduled for greater than 12 months.
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22. Provisions (continued)
  Pension Scheme Pension Scheme 
  2014 2013
  $’ 000 $’ 000

Historic Summary
Defined Benefit (Pension Scheme):
Present value of unfunded obligation   1,620   1,691 
Deficit   1,620   1,691

Experience adjustments arising on plan liabilities:
Defined Benefit (Pension Scheme)   11   68
Movement in other provisions
Employment on-cost provision
Current   
Carrying amount at start of year   88   60
Additional provision recognised   (2)  28
Carrying amount at end of period   86   88

Non-current  
Carrying amount at start of year   35   31 
Additional provision recognised   (6)  4 
Carrying amount at end of period   29   35 
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  2014 2013
  $’ 000 $’ 000

23. Borrowings         
Current   670   815
Non current
WA Treasury Corporation Loan   204,006   168,367
West Australian Land Authority   10,824   10,006
    214,830   178,373  

The interest charges on borrowings are capitalised to the appropriate projects. 
The loan with West Australian Land Authority relates to funding for the Forrestdale Business Park and Champion Drive in the Armadale region. 

24. Other Liabilities         
Non-current
Public art and Parking fund contribution (a)   303  294
    303   294

(a)  Parking fund represents cash in lieu of parking spaces. The funds are to be used to provide public facilities. The public art fund represents developer contributions to 
the Percent for Art scheme. This requires that all developments over $1,000,000 contribute 1% of the construction costs to public art. The public art may be delivered 
as part of the development or paid to the Authority for the delivery of public art within the project area.
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  2014 2013
  $’ 000 $’ 000

25. Equity
Balance at start of period   191,716   108,677
Contribution from Government
Capital Contribution   33,346   78,610 
Transfer from WA Planning Commission   -     5,467
Transfer from Water Corporation   9,285   4,066
Transfer from Public Transport Authority   291   55
Transfer from Department of Transport   82   - 
Transfer from Department of Housing   400   -
Transfer from Main Roads WA   755   - 
Transfer from City of Perth   1,028   -
Distribution to Government 
Transfer to Department of Transport  -  (5,159)
Transfer to Water Corporation  (13,351) -
Transfer to Main Roads WA  (4,470) -
Balance at end of period  219,082  191,716 

Asset Revaluation Reserve
Balance at start of period   562   40
Net revaluation (decrements) increments - Buildings  (562)  522
Balance at end of period   -   562

Accumulated Surplus/ (Deficit)
Balance at start of period  (26,795) (17,708)
Loss for the period  (48,802) (9,087)
Balance at end of period  (75,597) (26,795)
Total Equity at end of period   143,485   165,483

The contributions from Water Corporation, Department of Transport, Main Roads WA and City of Perth were for the Elizabeth Quay Project.    
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  2014 2013 
  $’ 000 $’ 000

26. Notes to the Statement of Cashflows
Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cashflows is reconciled to the related items  
in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:  
Cash and cash equivalents   20,675   22,377
    20,675   22,377

Reconciliation of profit/(loss) after tax equivalent to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating activities
Surplus/(deficit)   (48,865)  (9,087)
Non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation   1,271   645
Revaluation (increment) /decrement   973   (712)
Reduction in Provision for deferred works   -     (4,538)
Doubtful Debt and asset writeoff   151   206 
Asset Revaluation decrement   55   - 

Items classified in investing, financing or state government:  
Finance Costs   1,748   1,712
Developer Contributions   (5,330)  (3,731)

(Increase) / decrease in assets:
Current receivables (a)   (6,011)  (3,434)
Other current assets   (433)  (74)
Other non current assets   247   234 
Inventory charged to Cost of Sales   73,061   5,077
Infrastructure development expense   25,073   - 
Write down inventory to NRv   5,362   -  
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  2014 2013 
  $’ 000 $’ 000

26. Notes to the Statement of Cashflows (continued)        
Increase / (decrease) in liabilities
Payables (a)   (3,029)  (4,064)
Income in advance   7   (47)
Current provisions   (111)  506 
Other non-current liabilities   1,052   -    
Non-current provisions   (231)  (248)
Net GST receipt/ (payments) (b)
Change in GST receivables/payables (c)   2,541   763
Grants and contributions from other government agencies   (6,608)  (6,473)
Net cash provided by / (used in) operating activities   40,923   (23,265) 

(a)  Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and the receivable/payable in respect of the sale/purchase of non-current assets 
are not included in these items as they do not form part of the reconciling items.     

(b)  This is the net GST paid/received ie. Cash transactions.    
(c)  This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables. 
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  2014 2013 
  $’ 000 $’ 000

27. Commitments         
The commitments below are inclusive of GST where relevant
Capital expenditure commitments
Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to the amounts reported  
in the financial statements, are payable as follows:
Within 1 year and not later than 5 years   298,114   276,865
    298,114   276,865

Commitments in relation to non-cancellable operating leases contracted at the reporting date are payable as follows:
Within 1 year   1,214   58
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years   4,643   58
Later than 5 years   11,032   -
   16,889   116 

28. Contingent assets and contingent liabilities         
Contingent assets
The Authority has no contingent assets

Contingent liabilities
Grand Palace Lease Dispute – Elizabeth Quay
The party (Wang Nominees) that formerly occupied the now deconstructed Florence Hummerston Kiosk has commenced an action for compensation against the Western 
Australian Planning Commission (“WAPC”) in the Supreme Court of Western Australia. A sum of $5M was paid by WAPC from the Elizabeth Quay project budget to Wang 
Nominees as an advance payment prior to a formal compensation claim being lodged. Late last year, Wang Nominees rejected a formal offer of compensation however 
accepted the amount offered as a second advance payment, being $2.24M. This brings the total payments to date to $7.24M. The WAPC will continue to lead and manage 
the compensation claim as the land was taken by the WAPC in exercise of its taking powers under section 191 of the Planning and Development Act 2005. Title to the land 
was transferred to the MRA following the taking and the MRA will be required to fund any additional compensation amount as determined from the project budget.
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Contamination Management – East Perth Gas-Works Site
The Authority is obligated to manage the contamination of the East Perth Gas-Works site and adjacent areas of the Swan River by direction from the Minister for the 
Environment. There is a containment management strategy in place. There are several citations where contamination of groundwater at Mardalup Park is mentioned 
including an ENv report from 2009, that was commissioned by MRA (or EPRA as it was then). This could be from either residual contamination due to incomplete 
remediation of estuarine sediments during the 1990s; through contaminated groundwater that exists at Mardalup Park; or a combination of both. These findings are 
consistent with previous investigations and will support informed management of the site including further investigations to be undertaken by the MRA. The site is 
“remediated for restricted use” i.e. suitable for its current use.  It is not possible to reliably estimate the potential financial effect of any claims should a contamination 
event occur in the future.
Pioneer Road Service Site (PRS) Groundwater Monitoring
The former PRS site on Hay Street in Subiaco has some remnant groundwater contamination. MRA is undertaking quarterly groundwater monitoring in accordance with 
the approved site groundwater monitoring plan, as required by the Department of Environmental Regulation. The testing is to confirm the fate of the groundwater, 
however the site has been reclassified as “Remediated – Restricted Use” and approved for residential and commercial uses.  Depending on the results of ongoing 
monitoring, MRA may be required to:
Continue to perform further monitoring for a longer period;
Perform further remediation works; and compensate third parties affected by the contamination.
Mitigating those matters are that the groundwater is not hazardous to human health in its current location and the site classification approval prevents groundwater 
abstraction and residential uses not coming within one level of the groundwater and a memorial on the title to that effect. It is anticipated that the monitoring of the site 
will be adequate and further remediation will not be required.  
Champion Lakes Regatta Centre Dispute
The Authority was served with a writ of summons on 12 June 2013.The writ sets out a damages claim arising out of an assertion of trespass to an interest in certain 
land purportedly created by way of adverse possession prior to 2007. Ownership of the land, the subject matter of the claim, was transferred from the Authority to 
venuesWest in January 2014 and forms part of the Champion Lakes Regatta Centre which was constructed in 2007.
The State Solicitor’s Office is acting for the Authority and venuesWest to defend the action. A hearing was held in March 2014 on a preliminary point that had a partly 
successful outcome, in that the Plaintiff’s action will no longer be proceeding over all of the land the subject of its original claim. However, the judgment on that 
preliminary point indicates that the claim can proceed in relation to the land originally owned by the City of Armadale - the area on which Wright Lake was situated. 
The next phase of the action will involve the question of whether or not Mr Goodwin had successfully established a possessory title as at 2007, , on what has been 
provided by Mr Goodwin to date in terms of evidence, seems doubtful. Only if he succeeds in that task will the issue of trespass arise, which will involve the question of 
quantification of damages. In that event, a valuation of the revised area of land which is now the subject of the claim will be undertaken.
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29. Events Occurring after the end of the reporting period         
No events have occurred after the end of the reporting period.

30. Explanatory Statement         
This statement provides details of any significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2014 and between the actuals results for 2014 and 2013 are shown 
below.  Significant variations are considered to be those greater than 5% and $5 million. 
Significant variances between actual results for 2014 and 2014 estimates.
    2014 2014
    Actual Estimates Variance 
    $’ 000 $’ 000 $’ 000

Income
Sales Revenue    76,122   79,146   (3,024)

Expense
Cost of Sales    73,061   77,461   4,400
Infrastructure development expense    25,073   -     (25,073)

Income:
Sales revenue was lower than estimated due to the expected sales not occurring in the current financial period. 

Expenses:   
Cost of sales was lower than the estimate due to the expected sales not occurring in the current financial period.  
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30. Explanatory Statement (continued) 
Significant variances between actual results for 2014 and 2013
    2014 2013
    Actual Actual Variance   
    $’ 000 $’ 000 $’ 000  

Income
Sales Revenue  76,122   6,400   69,722 

Expense
Cost of Sales  73,061   5,077   67,984 
Infrastructure development expense  25,073   -     25,073

Income:
Sales revenue variance is mainly due to the first sale of Elizabeth Quay lot occuring in the financial period.

Expenses:
Cost of sales variance is due to additional sales occuring in the financial period.
Infrastructure development expenses have increased as a result of expenses during the year.      
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31. Financial Instruments
(a) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
Financial instruments held by the Authority are cash and cash equivalents held 
at bank, receivables, finance leases, payables and borrowings.  The Authority 
has limited exposure to financial risks.  The Authority’s overall risk management 
program focuses on managing the risks identified below.
Credit risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Authority’s receivables 
defaulting on their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the 
Authority. The maximum exposure to credit risk at end of the reporting period in 
relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the gross carrying amount of 
those assets inclusive of any provisions for impairment, as shown in the table at 
Note 31(c) ‘Financial Instruments Disclosures’ and Note 13 ‘Receivables’.
The Authority trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The 
Authority has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and services are 
made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable 
balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Authority’s 
exposure to bad debts is minimal. At the end of the reporting period, there were no 
significant concentrations of credit risk.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises when the Authority is unable to meet its financial obligations 
as they fall due. The Authority is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the 
normal course of business.
The Authority’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding 
and flexibility through the use of loans. The Authority has appropriate procedures 
to manage cash flows by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient 
funds are available to meet its commitments.
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates 
and interest rates will affect the Authority’s income or the value of its holdings of 
financial instruments. The Authority does not trade in foreign currency and is not 
materially exposed to other price risks. The Authority’s exposure to market risk 
for changes in interest rates relate primarily to the long-term debt obligations. The 
Authority’s borrowings are all obtained through the Western Australian Treasury 
Corporation (WATC) and are at variable rates with varying maturities. The risk 
is managed by WATC through portfolio diversification and variation in maturity 
dates. Other than as detailed in the Interest rate sensitivity analysis table at note 
31(c), the Authority is not exposed to interest rate risk because apart from minor 
amounts of restricted cash, all other cash and cash equivalents and restricted 
cash are non-interest bearing and have no borrowings other than the Treasurer’s 
advance (non-interest bearing), WATC borrowings and finance leases (fixed interest 
rate).
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31. Financial Instruments (continued)
(b) Categories of Financial Instruments
In addition to cash, the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets  
and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
  2014 2013 
  $’ 000 $’ 000

Financial Assets   
Cash and Cash Equivalents: bank account  10,850   16,141
Restricted Cash  9,825   6,236 
Receivables (i)  3,988   3,391

Financial Liabilities
Payables   15,327   13,818
Borrowings   214,830   178,373 
Income in advance  228   221 
Other Liabilities  303   294 
(i) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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31. Financial Instruments (continued)
(c) Financial Instrument Disclosures 
Credit Risk 
The following table details the Authority’s maximum exposure to credit risk,interest rate exposures and the ageing analysis of financial assets. The Authority’s maximum 
exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown below. The table discloses the ageing of financial assets that 
are past due but not impaired.
The Authority does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to the financial assets it holds. 
The Authority does not hold any financial assets that had to have their terms renegotiated that would have otherwise resulted in them being past due or impaired.

 Ageing analysis of financial assets
   ` Past due but not impaired
   Not past due   
  Carrying and not  up to 1-3 3 months 1-5 more than Impaired 
  amount impaired 1 month months  to 1 year  years  5 years financial   
  $’ 000 $’ 000 $’ 000 $’ 000 $’ 000 $’ 000 $’ 000 assets  

Financial assets:
30 June 2014     
Cash and Cash Equivalents: bank account 10,850   10,850   -     -   -   -   -   -   
Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents                             9,825   9,825   -     -   -   -   -   -  
Receivables (i) 3,988   3,966   -     8   -   -   -   7 
   24,663   24,641   -     8   -   -   -   7

Financial assets:
30 June 2013
Cash and Cash Equivalents: bank account 16,141   16,141   -   -   -   -   -   -
Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents                             6,236   6,236   -   -   -   -   -   -
Receivables (i) 4,005   3,870   88   160   14   -   -   188
   26,382   26,247   88   160   14   -   -   188

(i) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).      
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31. Financial Instruments (continued)
(c) Financial Instrument Disclosures (continued)
Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure
The following table details the contractual maturity analysis for financial liabilities. The table includes interest and prinicipal cashflows. An adjustment has been made 
where material.
Interest rate exposures and maturity analysis of financial liabilities (a)
 Interest rate exposure Maturity date   
  Fixed variable Non Adjustment Total     more 
 Carrying Interest Interest Interest for nominal up to 3 3 – 12 1 – 2 2 –5 than 5 
 amount Rate Rate Bearing discounting account months months years years years 
 $000 $’ 000 $’ 000 $’ 000 $’ 000 $’ 000 $’ 000 $’ 000 $’ 000 $’ 000 $’ 000

Financial liabilities:            
30 June 2014            
Payables 15,327   -     -     15,327   -     15,327   14,347   -     -     30   950 
Borrowings (b) 214,830   -     214,830   -     -     214,830   670   2,010   2,680   217,510   -   
Income in advance  228   -     -     228   -     228   228   -     -     -     -   
Other Liabilities  303   -     -     303   -     303   303   -     -     -     -   
  230,688   -   214,830   15,858   -   230,688   15,548   2,010   2,680   217,540   950 

Financial liabilities:            
30 June 2013            
Payables 13,818   -     -     13,818   -     13,818   13,818   -     -     -     -   
Borrowings (b)  179,188   -     179,188   -     -     179,188   815   -     61,189   117,184   -   
Income in advance  221   -     -     221   -     221   221   -     -     -     -   
Other Liabilities  294   -     -     294   -     294   294   -     -     -     -  
  193,521   -   179,188   14,333   -   193,521   15,148   -   61,189   117,184   - 
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31. Financial Instruments (continued)
(c)  Financial Instrument Disclosures (continued)
(a)  The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows of each class of financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period.
(b)  The Authority’s borrowings include a loan with Western Australian Land Authority and a non current borrowing facility with Western Australian Treasury 

Corporation (WATC). The WATC borrowings are classified as non current in the balance sheet although the borrowings in place are across a portfolio of lending 
products including short term notes. At the discretion of the Authority, these are rolled over on a continuing basis within the confines of the total borrowing limits 
approved by the Department of Treasury over the four year forward estimates period.    

Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis            
The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the Authority’s financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period on the surplus 
for the period and equity for a 100 basis point change in interest rates. It is assumed that the change in interest rates is held constant throughout the reporting period.

   -100 basis points  +100 basis points
  Carrying Amount Surplus Equity Surplus Equity 
  $’ 000 $’ 000 $’ 000 $’ 000 $’ 000

Financial assets:  
30 June 2014    
Cash and Cash Equivalents: bank account 10,850   (109)  (109)  109   109  
Restricted Cash  9,825   (98)  (98)  98   98 
Receivables  3,988   -     -     -     -   

Financial liabilities:
Payables (i)  15,327   -     -     -     -   
Borrowings  214,830   2,148   2,148   (2,148)  (2,148)
Income in advance  228   -     -     -     -     
Other Liabilities  303   -     -     -     -   
Total Increase / (Decrease)   1,943   1,943   (1,943)  (1,943)  
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31. Financial Instruments (continued)
(c)  Financial Instrument Disclosures (continued)
   -100 basis points  +100 basis points
  Carrying Amount Surplus Equity Surplus Equity 
  $’ 000 $’ 000 $’ 000 $’ 000 $’ 000

Financial assets:     
30 June 2013      
Cash and Cash Equivalents: bank account 16,141   (161)  (161)  161   161   
Restricted Cash  6,236   (62)  (62)  62   62   
Receivables  3,391   -     -     -     -    

Financial liabilities:  
Payables (i)  13,818   -     -     -     -     
Borrowings  179,188   1,792   1,792   (1,792)  (1,792) 
Income in advance  221   -     -     -     -     
Other Liabilities  294   -     -     -     -   
Total Increase / (Decrease)   1,569   1,569   (1,569)  (1,569) 

(i)  The amount of financial liabilities measured at amortised cost excludes GST payable to the ATO (statutory payable).

(d) Fair Values            
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the statement of financial position, whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts that represent 
a reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes.    
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32. Remuneration of members of the Accountable Authority and senior officers
  2014 2013 
  $’ 000 $’ 000

Remuneration of Members of the Accountable Authority
The number of members of the Accountable Authority, whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary  
benefits and other benefits for the financial period, fall within the following bands are:    
$ 10,001 – $ 20,000  -     1  
$ 20,001 – $ 30,000   -     4  
$ 30,001 – $ 40,000   5   3  
$ 40,001 – $ 50,000   1   -    
$ 50,001 – $ 60,000   1   -    

Total remuneration of the members of the accountable Authority:  286 211  

In 2012-13 the chair of the board was not paid. 
The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Authority in respect of members of the Accountable Authority.  
No members of the accountable authority are members of the Pension Scheme.   
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32. Remuneration of members of the Accountable Authority and senior officers (continued)
  2014 2013 
  $’ 000 $’ 000

Remuneration of Senior Officers 
The number of senior officers, other than senior officers reported as members of the Accountable Authority,  
whose total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the financial period  
fall within the following bands are:  
$ 170,001 - $ 180,000   -     2  
$ 180,001 - $ 190,000   2   -    
$ 190,001 - $ 200,000   -     1  
$ 200,001 - $ 210,000   1   -     
$ 210,001 - $ 220,000   -     1 
$ 220,001 - $ 230,000   1   -   
$ 290,001 - $ 300,000   -     1 
$ 300,001 - $ 310,000   1   -    
Base remuneration and superannuation  1,028 987
Annual leave and long service leave accruals  79 78 
Other benefits 

The total remuneration of senior officers:  1,107   1,065   

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Authority in respect of senior officers other than senior officers reported as members of the 
Accountable Authority. 
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33. Remuneration of Auditors
  2014 2013 
  $’ 000 $’ 000

Remuneration payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current financial period is as follows:
Auditing the accounts, financial statements and key performance indicators   50   48
    50   48 

34. Supplementary financial Information            
(a)  No public property was written off during the financial period.   
(b)  No losses of public money or public property occurred during the financial period.    
(c)  No gifts of public property was provided by the Authority. 
(d)  No significant event occurring during the year.    

35 (a). Resources received free of charge            
During the period the following resources were provided to the agency free of charge for functions outside the  
normal operations of the Authority: 
Western Australia Land Information Authority (Landgate)  1   357 
    1   357 

35 (b). Grants and contributions from other government agencies
   6,608   6,473
    6,608   6,473  

Comprises mainly of receipts of Metropolitan Region Improvement Fund (MRIF) from WA Planning Commission.   

36. Related bodies   
The Authority has no related bodies.      
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We hereby certify that the Key Performance Indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority’s performance, and fairly represent the performance of the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority for the financial year ended 30 June 2014.  
    

Richard Muirhead Jeff Dowling Kieran Kinsella

Chairperson Deputy Chairperson Chief Executive Officer

ceRtificAtion of key peRfoRmAnce indicAtoRs

103



  
k

ey
 p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 in

di
ca

to
rs

key Performance indicators

The MRA Agency Level Desired Outcome is  
‘To deliver vibrant, attractive and active Redevelopment 
Areas by building a Sense of Place, enhancing 
Connectivity and Environmental Integrity, and 
promoting Economic Well Being, Urban Efficiency,  
and Social Inclusion through providing for the planning 
and redevelopment of those areas.’  This Outcome 
is guided by the MRA Redevelopment Objectives as 
prescribed in the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority 
Regulations 2011. Regulation 14 Redevelopment Area 
Objectives: s.30(5)(c) states:

The objectives of each redevelopment area are  
as follows — 
1. to build a sense of place by supporting high quality 

urban design, heritage protection, public art and 
cultural activities that respond to Perth’s environment, 
climate and lifestyle;

2. to promote economic wellbeing by supporting, where 
appropriate, development that facilitates investment 
and provides opportunity for local businesses and 
emerging industries to satisfy market demand;

3. to promote urban efficiency through infrastructure and 
buildings, the mix of land use and facilitating a critical 
mass of population and employment;

4. to enhance connectivity and reduce the need to travel 
by supporting development aimed at well designed 
places that support walking, cycling and public transit;

5. to promote social inclusion by encouraging, where 
appropriate, a diverse range of housing and by 
supporting community infrastructure and activities 
and opportunities for visitors and residents to socialise;

6. to enhance environmental integrity by  
encouraging ecologically sustainable design,  
resource efficiency, recycling, renewable energy and 
protection of the local ecology.

The Redevelopment Objectives define the outcomes that 
the MRA intends to deliver within its Redevelopment 
Areas.  These Redevelopment Objectives apply to all of 
the MRA’s Project Areas within its Redevelopment Areas.  
A single set of Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) is in 
place to measure the delivery of these Redevelopment 
Objectives.  Each Redevelopment Objective is 
represented by a KPI that best reflects the individual 
Redevelopment Objective, and each KPI attempts to 
provide a useful measurement at any stage of the  
project cycle.
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key Performance indicators (continued)

Agency desiRed outcome
To deliver vibrant, attractive and active Redevelopment Areas by building a Sense of Place, enhancing Connectivity and Environmental Integrity, and promoting Economic 
Well Being, Urban Efficiency, and Social Inclusion through providing for the planning and redevelopment of those areas.

Redevelopment objective 1 Redevelopment objective 2 Redevelopment objective 3 Redevelopment objective 4 Redevelopment objective 5 Redevelopment objective 6

Sense of Place
To build a sense of place by 
supporting high quality urban 
design, heritage protection, 
public art, and cultural 
activities that respond to 
Perth’s environment, climate 
and lifestyle.

Economic Well Being
To promote economic well-
being by supporting, where 
appropriate, development 
that facilitates investment 
and provides opportunities 
for local businesses and 
emerging industries to satisfy 
market demand.

Urban Efficiency
To promote urban efficiency 
through infrastructure and 
buildings, the mix of land 
use and facilitating a critical 
mass of population and 
employment.

Social Inclusion
To promote social inclusion 
for various people in the 
redevelopment area by 
requiring diverse and 
affordable housing and 
supporting community 
infrastructure, activities and 
opportunities for visitors and 
residents to socialise.

Connectivity
To enhance connectivity by 
supporting development 
aimed at well-designed places 
that support walking, cycling 
and public transit.

Environmental Integrity
To enhance environmental 
integrity by encouraging 
ecologically sustainable 
design, resource efficiency, 
recycling, renewable energy 
and protection of the local 
ecology.

key performance indicators

User Satisfaction
The concept of Sense of 
Place is best experienced and 
enunciated by the users of 
the redevelopment area. In 
order to measure sense of 
place, it is acknowledged that 
each redevelopment area, 
project and its associated 
precinct are at different 
stages of development and in 
turn, may not be suitable for 
surveying. User satisfaction 
will measure the level of 
satisfaction of the users of the 
Redevelopment Areas.

Investment Generated
The MRA invests money 
into redevelopment areas 
to stimulate the investment 
by other parties into the 
area. The proportion of 
investment made by private 
industry and/or non MRA 
government bodies into the 
redevelopment area is an 
indicative measure of the 
economic activity that has 
been produced from the MRA 
investment.

Land Use Volume and Mix
A critical mass of population 
is best measured through 
the capacity of buildings 
produced through the 
redevelopment. These 
measures must include 
the mix of land use – 
residential, commercial, 
retail and industrial that 
might be included in MRA 
Redevelopment Areas.

Housing Stock Diversity
Redevelopment areas require 
a mixture of housing sizes 
to ensure the needs of the 
demographic mix of an 
area are catered for and 
to ensure consistency of 
measurements.  Housing 
Stock Diversity will be 
based on the number of 
bedrooms in a dwelling.  
This will represent a range 
of size of dwellings. The 
diversity of the housing stock 
delivered by the MRA in the 
redevelopment area is the 
most accurate measure to 
gauge social inclusion.

Public Transit Access
Access of residents, 
workers and visitors to 
public transport options 
is an important gauge of 
connectivity within the 
redevelopment area

Green Star Rating
The Green Star Rating system 
provides a measure of the 
environmental integrity 
and efficiency of the built 
form developed with the 
redevelopment area.  This 
measure will demonstrate 
the environmental integrity 
and efficiency of commercial 
buildings.

services

The delivery of major projects within MRA Redevelopment Areas
Key Efficiency Indicator - Overheads to Inventory and Profit
The MRA exists to acquire land, develop land and sell land.  The costs it incurs to deliver these 
services speaks to the efficiency of the organisation.  The inventory of land assets held and 
the gross profit achieved through sales are two of the main metrics applicable to the MRA so a 
ratio of these metrics relative to the net operational overheads will track the efficiency of the 
Authority over time.

Statutory Planning Control
Key Efficiency Indicator - Statutory Planning Determination Timeframes
Determining Statutory applications is one of the most important and visible services the MRA 
provides to external parties who wish to develop in the Redevelopment Area.  The efficiency of 
these services is tied directly to critical services delivery and has the ability to impact the MRA 
reputation.
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Approval of the Metropolitan Redevelopment 
Authority inaugural Key Performance Indicators was 
received on 20 June 2013.  
In an effort to measure the effect that the MRA 
is having on the Perth Metropolitan area, it was 
determined that baseline measurements be 
undertaken to provide a comparable basis for future 
measurements, in order to quantify the progress of 
achievements over the life of the Projects within the 
four Redevelopment Areas. The MRA did not report 
against targets in the 2012/13 Annual Report, but 
reported the actual figures for each Key Performance 
Indicator.
2013/14 Targets for MRA’s Key Performance Indicators 
have been approved by the Board.
The 2012/2013 results are included to provide a 
comparison with the 2013/2014 targets and actual 
score.
It is to be noted that Scarborough Redevelopment 
Area targets will be set once the Master Plan is 
approved in 2014/15, as this establishes the vision for 
the redevelopment of Scarborough.
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ARmAdAle Redevelopment AReA 1

key performance indicator 2012/13 baseline 2013/14 target 2013/14 Actual score Analysis
User Satisfaction
User Satisfaction against:
- Project area quality
- Project area amenity
- Project area vitality

80% Not Applicable Not Applicable Not Applicable 2013/2014 - The Survey is conducted at the initiation of each 
project to establish a baseline then once the project is normalised or every five 
years whichever is the earlier.  The Survey was conducted in the 2012/13 year 
and therefore is not required to be conducted in 2013/14. 

Investment Generated
$ value of non-MRA investment compared 
to MRA investment.

1 : 0.02 3.2 : 1 11.8 : 1 Non-MRA investment - $77,677,799.96
MRA investment - $6,576,000
The Armadale Redevelopment Area has a high amount of non-MRA 
investment due to the fragmented land ownership within the Redevelopment 
Area.  There is higher level of private land ownership.

Land Use Volume and Mix
Number of approved Development 
Application residential units
Square metres of approved commercial, 
retail and industrial space

83
 

75,366m2

100 units
 

58,600 m2

190
 

34,879m2

The second measurement is broken down below: 
Commercial: 8,013m2
Retail: 1,239m2
Industrial: 25,626m2
A higher number of residential Development Applications was received within 
the 2013/14 year, increasing the number of approved Development Application 
residential units.

Housing Stock Diversity
Percentage of approved diverse residential 
dwellings according to number of bedrooms 
(1, 2 and 3 bedroom).

1  0%
2   0%
3+ 100%

1  30%
2  20%
3+ 10%

1  0.6%
2  2.6%%
3+ 96.8%

1  1 dwelling               
2  5 dwellings    
3+  184 dwellings    
All 190 dwellings are found within the Wungong Urban Water, Champion 
Lakes and Champion Drive Precincts.  The high number of three bedroom 
dwellings is due to market demand and block sizes being produced within the 
Redevelopment Area.

Public Transit Access
Number of approved dwellings within 
walkable catchment of public transport 
nodes/stops.

17% 100 dwellings 49 dwellings (25.8%) Number of Development Applications within a walkable catchment – 49
Total Applicable Development Applications – 190
All 49 dwellings are found within the Champion Lakes and Champion Drive 
precincts.
The difference in the target and actual score is due to the public transport 
network still to be established throughout the Wungong Urban Project Area.

Green Star Rating
Number of (4-6) Green star rated (or 
equivalent) buildings.

4 Star 0
5 Star 0
6 Star 0

4 Star 0
5 Star 0
6 Star 0

4 Star 0
5 Star 0
6 Star 0

1 The Armadale Redevelopment Area comprises the Armadale and Wungong Urban Project Areas.

targets (continued)
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centRAl peRth Redevelopment AReA 2

key performance indicator 2012/13 baseline 2013/14 target 2013/14 Actual score Analysis
User Satisfaction
User Satisfaction against:
- Project area quality
- Project area amenity
- Project area vitality

90% Not Applicable Not Applicable Not Applicable 2013/2014 - The Survey is conducted at the initiation of each 
project to establish a baseline then once the project is normalised or every five 
years whichever is the earlier.  The Survey was conducted in the 2012/13 year 
and therefore is not required to be conducted in 2013/14. 

Investment Generated
$ value of non-MRA investment compared 
to MRA investment.

1 : 0.56 2.1 : 1 2.3 : 1 Non-MRA investment - $261,469,678
MRA investment - $113,806,468

Land Use Volume and Mix
Number of approved Development 
Application residential units
Square metres of approved commercial, 
retail and industrial space

41
36,808m2

500 units
75,000 m2

494
22,853m2

The second measurement is broken down below:
Commercial: 8,711m2
Retail: 3,142m2
Industrial: 11,000m2

Housing Stock Diversity
Percentage of approved diverse residential 
dwellings according to number of bedrooms 
(1, 2 and 3 bedroom).

1  14.6%
2  48.8%
3+ 36.6%

1  10%
2  40%
3+ 20%

1  67.8%
2  27.9%
3+ 4.3%

1 335 dwellings                
2 138 dwellings     
3+   21 dwellings     
All 494 dwellings are found within the Riverside, Elizabeth Quay, New 
Northbridge and Claisebrook village Project Areas.

Public Transit Access
Number of approved dwellings within 
walkable catchment of public transport 
nodes/stops.

100% 500 dwellings 494 dwellings 100% Number of dwellings within a walkable catchment– 494
Total Applicable dwellings - 494

Green Star Rating
Number of (4-6) Green star rated (or 
equivalent) buildings.

4 Star 4
5 Star 2
6 Star 0

4 Star 0
5 Star 0
6 Star 0

4 Star 4
5 Star 0
6 Star 0

The 4 Star development applications were found in the Elizabeth Quay, 
Riverside and Claisebrook village Project areas.   All four development 
applications were received within the 2013/14 year.

2 The Central Perth Redevelopment Area comprises the Elizabeth Quay, Perth City Link, Riverside, Perth Cultural Centre, New Northbridge, Claisebrook Village and East Perth Power Station Project Areas.

targets (continued)
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m idlAnd Redevelopment AReA 3

key performance indicator 2012/13 baseline 2013/14 target 2013/14 Actual score Analysis
User Satisfaction
User Satisfaction against:
- Project area quality
- Project area amenity
- Project area vitality

76% Not Applicable Not Applicable Not Applicable 2013/2014 - The Survey is conducted at the initiation of each 
project to establish a baseline then once the project is normalised or every five 
years whichever is the earlier.  The Survey was conducted in the 2012/13 year 
and therefore is not required to be conducted in 2013/14. 

Investment Generated
$ value of non-MRA investment compared 
to MRA investment.

1 : 0.21 1.1 :1 1.2 : 1 Non-MRA investment – $5,928,628
MRA investment - $4,787,000

Land Use Volume and Mix
Number of approved Development 
Application residential units
Square metres of approved commercial, 
retail and industrial space

15
8,485m2

50 units,
2000 m2

9
0m2

An anticipated Development Application for 2013/2014 was not determined in 
2013/2014.

Housing Stock Diversity
Percentage of approved diverse residential 
dwellings according to number of bedrooms 
(1, 2 and 3 bedroom).

1  53.3%
2  40%
3+  6.7%

1  20%
2  40%
3+ 15%

1  0%
2  100%
3+ 0%

1 0 dwellings               
2 9 dwellings     
3+   0 dwellings     
All 9 dwellings are found within the Midland City Centre Precinct. All 9 
dwellings were for one Development Application for multiple dwellings.  The 
high number of 2 bedroom apartments is due to market demand.

Public Transit Access
Number of approved dwellings within 
walkable catchment of public transport 
nodes/stops.

100% 50 dwellings 9 dwellings
 100%

Number of dwellings within a walkable catchment– 9
Total Applicable dwellings - 9

Green Star Rating
Number of (4-6) Green star rated (or 
equivalent) buildings.

4 Star 1
5 Star 0
6 Star 0

4 Star 0
5 Star 0
6 Star 0

4 Star 0
5 Star 0
6 Star 0

3 The Midland Redevelopment Area comprises the Midland Project Area.

targets (continued)
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subiAco Redevelopment AReA 4

key performance indicator 2012/13 baseline 2013/14 target 2013/14 Actual score Analysis
User Satisfaction
User Satisfaction against:
- Project area quality
- Project area amenity
- Project area vitality

82% Not Applicable Not Applicable Not Applicable 2013/2014 - The Survey is conducted at the initiation of each 
project to establish a baseline then once the project is normalised or every five 
years whichever is the earlier.  The Survey was conducted in the 2012/13 year 
and therefore is not required to be conducted in 2013/14. 

Investment Generated
$ value of non-MRA investment compared 
to MRA investment.

1 : 0.03 216 : 1 91 : 1 Non-MRA investment - $78,899,463.45
MRA investment - $865,000

Land Use Volume and Mix
Number of approved Development 
Application residential units
Square metres of approved commercial, 
retail and industrial space

101
345m2

300 units
2,100 m2

323
7,866m2

The second measurement is broken down below:
Commercial: 7,866m2
Retail:  0m2
Industrial: 0m2

Housing Stock Diversity
Percentage of approved diverse residential 
dwellings according to number of bedrooms 
(1, 2 and 3 bedroom).

1  49.5%
2  41.7%
3+  8.8%

1  10%
2  50%
3+ 20%

1  32.5%
2  57%
3+ 10.5%

1 105 dwellings                
2 184 dwellings     
3+   34 dwellings     
All 323 dwellings are found within the Australian Fine China and Hood Street 
Precincts.

Public Transit Access
Number of approved dwellings within 
walkable catchment of public transport 
nodes/stops.

100% 300 dwellings 323 dwellings 100% Number of dwellings within a walkable catchment– 323
Total Applicable dwellings - 323

Green Star Rating
Number of (4-6) Green star rated (or 
equivalent) buildings.

4 Star 1
5 Star 0
6 Star 0

4 Star 1
5 Star 0
6 Star 0

4 Star 2
5 Star    0
6 Star 0

One 4 star development application was approved within the Australian Fine 
China Precinct.
Another development application within the Australian Fine China Precinct 
incorporated sustainability measures equivalent to that of a 4 Star Green Star 
building.

4  The Subiaco Redevelopment Area comprises the Subi Centro Project Area. 

targets (continued)
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Services

services 2012/13 baseline 2013/14 target 2013/14 Actual score Analysis
delivery of major projects within 
mRa Redevelopment areas
Key Performance Indicator
Ratio of net operational overheads to 
average inventory plus gross profit

11% 3.62% 9% The percentage has decreased from 2012/13, as although the adjusted 
overheads in 2013/14 are higher than the prior year, the average  
inventory and profit increase is relatively higher than prior year,  
which therefore reduces the percentage.

Statutory Planning control
Key Performance Indicator
Median determination timeframe in 
days for Development Applications 
(standard and major), subdivision  
applications and structure plans

59 days 90 days (standard)
120 days (major)

68 days (standard)
113 days (major)

Redevelopment Area Major 
DA’s

Standard 
DA’s

Subdivisions Structure 
Plans

Central Perth 148 65 Not 
Applicable

Not  
Applicable

Subiaco 127.5 74.5 Not 
Applicable

Not 
Applicable

Armadale 98 25 Not 
Applicable

Not 
Applicable

Midland 69 71 Not 
Applicable

Not 
Applicable

Overall Median 113* 68**

The variance between actual and target scores was due to  
Development Applications being determined within the 90 day  
and 120 day timeframes for standard and major development 
applications respectively.

* Section 65(2) of the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority Act 2011 requires major Development Applications be approved within 120 days after the date on which the application is received. 

**  Section 65(2) of the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority Act 2011 requires standard Development Applications to be approved within 90 days after the date on which the application is  received.
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mRa methodology notes to accompany effectiveness Results 

useR sAtisfAction
Not Applicable 2013/2014 - The Survey is conducted 
at the initiation of each project to establish a baseline 
then once the project is normalised or every five years 
whichever is the earlier.  The Survey was conducted 
in the 2012/13 year and therefore is not required to be 
conducted in 2013/14. The MRA has a target of 66% for 
the overall life of each Redevelopment Area.

investment geneRAted
Results derived by:
MRA Investment:
•	 Amount capitalised as inventory.
•	 Plus any capitalised work on the MRA’s investment 

properties.
•	 Plus the cost of works done by the MRA for other 

government agencies.
Non-MRA Investment:
•	 Development Applications approved in the period 

were filtered by Redevelopment Area, then by Project 
and Precinct.

•	 A ratio is then sought after both Non-MRA Investment 
and MRA Investment has been calculated.

•	 The formula is: $ value of non-MRA Investment 
compared to MRA Investment.

 

uRbAn efficiency
Number of approved development applications 
residential units
•	 This was demonstrated by the number of approved 

Development Applications for residential, mixed 
use, change of use to residential and amendments 
approved in the last financial year per Redevelopment 
Area, then by Project and Precinct.

Square metres of approved development applications 
for commercial, retail, industrial etc. space
•	 This was demonstrated by the number of 

Development Applications approved in the last 
financial year per Redevelopment Area, then by 
Project and Precinct.

•	 Development Applications for small additions such as 
patios and fencing were not included.

•	 For all applications prior to 1 January 2014, individual 
files and relevant planning reports were reviewed for 
each relevant Development Application to determine 
floor space. Area was calculated using the ‘measure’ 
area tool in Adobe Reader if a specific value was not 
provided in the plans.

•	 Details of all approved floor space for applications 
after 1 January 2014 were obtained from the Planning 
and Contract of Sale system (PACS).

sociAl inclusion
•	 Only Development Applications approved in the 

last financial year per Redevelopment Area, then by 
Project  and Precinct were included.

•	 The Development Applications were for residential, 
mixed use, change of use to residential and 
amendments to Development Applications. 

•	 Development Applications for mixed use 
developments which did not include residential or 
applications for transient residential such as. hotel 
uses were not included.

•	 For all applications prior to 1 January 2014, individual 
files and relevant planning reports were reviewed for 
each relevant Development Application to determine 
dwelling statistics.

•	 Dwelling statistics for all approved residential 
dwellings after 1 January 2014 were obtained from 
PACS. 
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mRa methodology notes to accompany effectiveness Results (continued)

connectivity
Results derived by using only:
•	 Residential and Mixed Use Development 

Applications;
•	 Approved Development Applications;
•	 Development Applications approved in 2013/14 

financial year were selected.
Straight Line Distance Analysis
•	 Development Applications which were within 

walkable 400m distance of a bus stop and/or 800m of 
transit stops were analysed.    

Walkable distance analysis  
•	 The list of Development Application lots within a 

straight line 400m to 800m distance of a transit stop 
were assessed to see if they were within 400m to 
800m via the road network.  This was undertaken 
using Google Maps measurement tool as the transit 
stops are visible on Google Maps.

Final count of applicable Development  
Applications within walkable distance of transit  
stops by Scheme Area
•	 The list of applicable Development Applications 

within walkable distance of transit was then sorted by 
Project Area.     

enviRonmentAl integRity
•	 Results derived by only including Development 

Applications approved in the last financial year for 
each Redevelopment Area and then by Project Area 
and Precinct.

•	 These results were further refined by including only 
Development Applications for new commercial, 
industrial, mixed use, community or residential units 
excluding single dwellings

•	 Green star conditions are only imposed when 
constructing new buildings.

•	 Development approvals and individual files were 
reviewed to determine whether a (4/5/6 star) 
Green Star rating was imposed as a condition of the 
approval.

stAtutoRy plAnning contRol
•	 The measure utilised was the average timeframe 

(in days) within which Development Applications 
(standard and major) were determined and applicants 
notified.

•	 Subdivision applications are determined by the 
Western Australian Planning Commission (WAPC) 
within the Armadale Redevelopment Area, with 
the WAPC providing the MRA with a 42 day referral 
period prior to them making a determination.
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disclosures and legal compliance

ministeRiAl diRectives
Section 115(1) of the Act provides “the Minister may give 
written directions to the Authority with respect to the 
performance of its functions under this or any other 
Act, either generally or in relation to a particular matter, 
and the Authority must give effect to any such direction 
when it becomes effective under section 116.”
OUTCOME: The MRA received no Ministerial directives 
from 1 July 2013 to 30 June 2014.

ministeRiAl RecommendAtions 
Section 29(1) of the Act states “the Governor must not 
make regulations under section 30 or 31 that declare 
land to be, or add land to, a Redevelopment Area except 
on the recommendation of the Minister.”
The Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority 
Amendment Regulations 2013, made by the Governor 
in Executive Council on the recommendation of 
the Minister under section 29, was laid before the 
Legislative Assembly on 10 September 2013 and 
the Legislative Council on 11 September 2013.  The 
Regulation Amendment provides for the incorporation 
of the Scarborough Redevelopment Area.

Section 29(5) of the Act provides “if the Minister 
recommends the making of regulations the content 
of which is, in the Minister’s opinion, significantly 
different to any recommendation made by the Western 
Australian Planning Commission under this section, the 
Minister must cause notice of the difference to be laid 
before each House of Parliament or dealt with under 
section 132 of the Act, within 14 days on which the 
Minister’s recommendation is given.”
OUTCOME: The MRA received no Ministerial 
recommendations of this nature from 1 July 2013 to  
30 June 2014.

ministeRiAl AppRovAls
Section 47(4) of the Act provides “if the Minister 
approves a draft redevelopment scheme the content 
of which is, in the Minister’s opinion, significantly 
different to any recommendation given by the Western 
Australian Planning Commission under section 46, the 
Minister must cause notice of the difference to be laid 
before each House of Parliament or dealt with under 
section 132 of the Act, with 14 days after the scheme 
start day.”
OUTCOME: The MRA received no Ministerial approvals 
of this nature from 1 July 2013 to 30 June 2014.

pRicing policies
In accordance with the Metropolitan Redevelopment 
Authority Regulations 2011, the MRA provides planning 
services in accordance with fees prescribed at Schedule 
5 of the Regulations.

stAff development
The MRA understands that in order to deliver 
innovative urban redevelopment, a highly capable, 
competent and motivated team is required. The MRA 
values its staff and continually seeks to identify and 
provide opportunities for staff to develop their personal 
and professional competencies.
MRA staff have attended over 86 hours in a range of 
role-specific professional development courses, as well 
as courses aimed at developing broader capabilities 
to enhance future management career opportunities, 
including the implementation of a Leadership 
Development Program and Accountable and Ethical 
Decision Making.  
The MRA Workforce and Diversity Plan 2013 to 2017 has 
been developed to provide the MRA with a strategic 
focus to enhance productivity through development 
and retention of high quality people and to foster an 
inclusive workforce culture. 
By focusing on the recruitment and retention of highly 
capable staff, the MRA will continue to strive to be an 
employer of choice. 
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policies, pRoceduRes And 
pRogRAms to Assist stAff
The MRA has a number of policies in place to assist 
staff, including:
•	 Workforce and Diversity Plan 2013-17
•	 Workplace Policy
•	 Home Based Work Policy
•	 Occupational Safety and Health Policy
•	 Eyesight Screening and Testing Policy
•	 Purchased Leave 42-52 Salary Arrangements Policy
•	 Education and Professional Membership  

Assistance Policy
•	 Hours and Flexible Working Arrangements Policy
•	 Injury Management Policy 
•	 Defence Force Leave Policy

 woRkeRs compensAtion
One worker’s compensation claim was recorded for the 
financial year.  

goveRnAnce disclosuRes
All MRA Board and Committee agendas have a standing 
item, which invites Board and Committee members 
to declare conflicts of interest in accordance with the 
requirements of section 92 of the Act.
The MRA’s contract administration system requires 
senior officers to declare interests in any existing or 
proposed contracts they are involved in administering. 
During the 2013-2014 year, one interest was declared.
All interests declared during the 2013-2014 period have 
been recorded on the MRA’s Interests Register.
During 2013-2014, the MRA paid $53,097 (excluding 
GST) for insurance to indemnify its directors as defined 
in part 3 of the Statutory Corporations (Liability of 
Directors) Act 1996 against liability incurred under 
sections 13 or 14 of the Statutory Corporations (Liability 
of Directors) Act 1996.
The Public Sector Commissioner’s Contact with 
Lobbyist’s Code and Contact with Lobbyist’s Register 
have been developed to ensure that contact between 
lobbyists and government is conducted in accordance 
with public expectations of transparency, integrity, 
accountability and honesty. 
The MRA has a Contact with Lobbyists Policy which 
ensures that all staff are aware of the requirements of 
the Public Sector Commissioner’s Circular 2009-13, and 
comply with the obligations detailed in the Contact 
with Lobbyist Code.  The MRA records all lobbyist 
contact on a Contact with Lobbyist Register.

mAJoR cApitAl pRoJects 
Please refer to Agency Performance for information 
about the MRA’s major capital projects. 

substAntive equAlity
While the MRA is not required to set out in its  
annual report the progress achieved in implementing 
the policy framework for substantive equality, it is 
committed to substantive equality and has developed 
a number of initiatives aimed at increasing social 
inclusion and diversity. Examples of these include 
the preparation of planning policies facilitating the 
development of affordable, diverse, universally 
accessible and adaptable housing.
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marketing and advertising
In compliance with Section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 
1907, the MRA incurred the following expenditure in 
advertising, market research, polling, direct mail and 
media advertising: 
Marketing and Advertising expenditure was used 
to communicate traffic and project updates and to 
promote place making initiatives across the MRA’s five 
Redevelopment Areas.
Total expenditure for the reporting period was 
$2,006,543 (excluding GST). Expenditure was incurred 
in the following areas: 

Total Amounts
Advertising Agencies and Public Relations Organisations 
Rare Creative Thinking $1,209,572
Block Branding $52,574
Market Research Organisations
Ipsos Australia $96,100
Media Advertising Organisations
Mitchell & Partners $37,757
Carat $580,256 
AdCorp  $30,284
Polling Organisations Nil
Direct Mail Organisations Nil

The MRA believes that people with disability should have the same opportunities as others to access the MRA’s 
services, facilities and information. In accordance with Part 5 of the Disability Services Act 1993, the MRA 
established a Disability Access and Inclusion Plan (DAIP) 2012-2017 in November 2012. 
DAIP initiatives undertaken during 2013-14 to address the desired outcomes in accordance with schedule 3 of the 
Disability Services Regulations 2004 (the DS Regulations) were:
•	 Planning of all public events, such as the December 2013 Illuminates Christmas Festival and Night Markets, was 

undertaken utilising the Disability Services Commission’s (DSC) “Creating Accessible Events” checklist to ensure 
the venue was accessible to all ages and abilities and event promoters or holders provided adequate facilities for 
people with disability.  

•	 The Carter Lane Design Guidelines specifically identify universal access as an objective that must be satisfied in 
the design of the public realm and will require compliance with the Disability Discrimination Act 1992 and the 
MRA Subiaco Development Policy Adaptable and Accessible Housing.

•	 The Forrestdale Business Park Design Guidelines include section 4.3 ‘Universal Design’ which requires all 
development to provide safe and equitable access to buildings, facilities and servicing in accordance with the 
Building Code of Australia and Australian Standard 1428 Design for Access and Mobility. 

•	 Employee awareness of disability and access issues continues to be maintained through notification to staff of 
the MRA’s DAIP developed for 2012-2017.

•	 The MRA website was updated following the incorporation of complaint mechanisms for accessibility by people 
with disability in the MRA’s Complaints Handling Policy approved in June 2013. 

•	 Online methods of community consultation are being increasingly utilised as they allow a wide public audience 
to participate in the consultation. 

•	 Following the June 2013 amendments to the DS Regulations, the MRA’s DAIP was amended to include the new 
Outcome 7 with a strategy to ensure the MRA’s employment processes allow the attraction and retention of 
employees with disability. Outcome 7 formally commenced in the DS Regulations for reporting purposes from 11 
June 2014. Tasks addressing the strategy will be undertaken in 2014-15.
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Record keeping Plancompliance with Public 
Sector Standards and  
ethical codes 
The MRA expects employees to display a high  
standard of ethical behaviour during the course  
of work and provides annual training in accountable 
and ethical decision making.  The code of conduct  
and ethics is published on the MRA intranet and all new 
employees are familiarised with it and are  
required to declare their understanding and  
compliance with the codes.  
In accordance with the requirements of section 31(1) 
of the Public Sector Management Act 1994, the MRA 
reports that there were no compliance issues that 
arose during the reporting period regarding the Public 
Sector Standards in Human Resource Management, 
Commissioner’s Instructions and Code of Ethics.

The MRA Record Keeping Plan governs the 
organisation’s recordkeeping and compiles with the 
State Records Act 2000. The final MRA Record Keeping 
Plan was approved by the State Records Commission 
on 6 December 2013. 
In the approved Record Keeping Plan, areas of 
improvement were identified, which the MRA is 
currently working through and providing regular 
updates to the State Records Office.  
In support of the plan the MRA has a Record 
Keeping Policy, which holds staff, contractors and 
organisations who perform on behalf of the MRA 
responsible for their records involvement. The  
Policy incorporates all legislative, business, 
administrative, financial, evidential and historical 
information requirements.
The MRA’s Electronic Document and Records 
Management System (EDRMS) manages information 
efficiently and effectively to meet legislative 
requirements. Policies and procedures are 
updated regularly or on a needs basis to ensure all 
requirements are being met.
All new employees commencing at the MRA are 
required to undertake a dedicated Records induction 
which covers all of their responsibilities and the 
basics of the EDRMS. The Information Services team 
coordinates a regular refresher session which covers 
the EDRMS, IT and Records subject matter. Further 
additional training sessions are arranged upon request 
and regularly promoted to the organisation. An 
online training program was developed in early 2013 
to complement the refresher sessions, however the 
overall training program will be reviewed in 2014. 

In August 2013 the MRA proudly launched its first 
Reconciliation Acton Plan (RAP), formally endorsed 
by Reconciliation Australia. The RAP Reflect stage 
was chosen to allow the MRA to initially concentrate 
on raising employee awareness about the MRA’s 
commitment to reconciliation.
The key highlights achieved through the RAP Reflect  
in 2013-14 were:
•	 Establishment of an internal RAP Working Group, 

with six meetings held throughout the year.
•	 The CEO drafting a personal Indigenous 

Acknowledgement message and presenting this 
acknowledgement at each staff event.

•	 94% of staff received Cultural Awareness Training 
facilitated by Kooya Consulting.

•	 Investigation and preparation for future events  
and RAP approaches, to ensure the MRA is  
building its culture on the right foundations for  
long-term outcomes.
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In accordance with the Freedom of Information Act 
1992 the MRA has a procedure in place to assist 
with Freedom of Information requests. The MRA 
Information Statement is available to the public on 
www.mra.wa.gov.au.

The MRA is committed to responsible and effective management of Occupational Safety and Health (OSH) in all 
aspects of its functions. The MRA values the safety and health of its people, contractors, customers and other 
stakeholders affected by the work it undertakes and the property it is involved with. Ongoing development and 
improvement of the OSH Management System is a key focus of the MRA Executive Committee. 
The OSH Management System was internally audited against the WorkSafe Plan and the review informed the 
development of an annual action plan.  It will be internally audited against the WorkSafe Plan to evaluate progress 
and inform planning of OSH activities.  
The MRA OSH Committee provides a forum for consultation on safety related issues and implements a range of 
safety and health management practices including education, training, reporting, discussion and accountability as 
part of the OSH Management System Action Plan.
The MRA complies with injury management requirements of the Workers’ Compensation and Injury  
Management Act 1981 and has workers’ compensation, injury management and return to work policies,  
procedures and documentation.  

measure Actual Results Results against target
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 Target Comment on result

Number of fatalities 0 0 0 0 Target achieved
Lost time injury and/or disease incidence rate 0 0 0.80 0 Target not achieved
Lost time injury and/or disease severity rate 0 0 0 0 Target achieved
Percentage of injured workers returned to work:
(i) Within 13 weeks  Not 

Applicable
Not 

Applicable
100% Greater than or 

equal to 80%
Target achieved

(ii) Within 26 weeks Not 
Applicable

Not 
Applicable

100% Greater than or 
equal to 80%

Target achieved

Percentage of managers trained in 
occupational safety, health and injury 
management responsibilities

22% Greater than or 
equal to 80%

Target yet to be 
achieved. Training 

continued throughout 
2013/14.
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further information 
For more information on any of our projects, the Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority Act of 2011 or the MRA, please visit:  
www.mra.wa.gov.au or call 08 6557 0700. 


